
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Turner-Smedley

AGENDA December 07, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Turner-Smedley

Minutes Recessed Meeting - November 9, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - November 9, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - November 16, 2016

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report October 2016

Report Trustee Monthly Report October 2016

Report Juvenile Court Clerk's Report September and October 2016

Report Criminal Court Clerk's Reports - June - July - August - September and October 2016

Res. No. 1216-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, and the bonds and
oaths of notaries previously elected.

Res. No. 1216-2 A Resolution confirming the reappointment by the County Mayor of two members to the
Emergency Communications District Board of Directors for terms ending November 21, 2020.

Res. No. 1216-3 A Resolution making an appropriation to Highway 58 Volunteer Fire Department in the amount
of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies as allotted to
District Nine.

Res. No. 1216-4 A Resolution accepting the bid of Virco, Inc., for contract unit pricing beginning December 8,
2016, through June 30, 2017, for school furniture for Sale Creek Middle and High School and
any additional schools needing furniture for the Hamilton County Department of Education, and
to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-5 A Resolution accepting the bid of Unistar-Sparco Computers, Inc., for televisions, wall mounts,
and a mobile TV cart, for Sale Creek Middle and High School  amounting to $17,479.16 for the
Department of Education and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-6 A Resolution accepting the unit price bid of Dannatek, Inc., for molded case POE analog clocks
beginning December 8, 2016 through December 7, 2017, with the option to renew for one (1)
additional one (1) year term, for the Hamilton County Department of Education and to authorize
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-7 A Resolution accepting the property insurance renewal proposal from Affiliated FM Insurance
through Hamilton County’s broker/consultant, Aon Risk Services South, Inc., for the County’s
Risk Management Office, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-8 A Resolution to make certain findings relating to the River View Housing Associates,  L.P.,
project to provide low-to-moderate income elderly housing through the acquisition and
renovation of the Jaycee Tower, to delegate certain authority to the Chattanooga Housing
Authority, and to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement for
payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes.

Res. No. 1216-9 A Resolution amending the Hamilton County purchasing rules providing an increase in the
competitive bid and proposal thresholds and associated approval authority, expanding allowable
cooperative purchasing sources, and updating other procurement language as per the 2016
Edition of the Procurement Rules.

Res. No. 1216-10 A Resolution establishing the initial list of Cooperative Purchasing Contracts in which Hamilton
County may participate subject to Section 3.6 of the Hamilton County Procurement Rules.



Res. No. 1216-11A A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & Amend Conditions of Resolution
1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 1650 & 1724
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road.

Res. No. 1216-11B A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & Amend Conditions of Resolution
1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 1650 & 1724
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road.

Res. No. 1216-12A A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1216-12B A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1216-13 A Resolution approving the purchase of thirty (30) Tasers and equipment amounting to
$58,224.50 from Gulf States Distributors for the Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-14 A Resolution approving the purchase of one hundred and seventy seven (177) sets of secondary
vest armor amounting to $28,098.75 from Body Armor Outlet, LLC, for the Sheriff’s Office and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-15 A Resolution approving the purchase of thirty one (31) sets of series ballistic plates amounting to
$43,783.16 from Botach, Inc., for the Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-16 A Resolution to accept a donation of $4,000 from the Roughnecks Motorcycle Club, via the
AEGIS Law Enforcement foundation, to reimburse the purchase of upgraded ballistic vests to
the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office for law enforcement purposes.

Res. No. 1216-17 A Resolution to accept the bid of SiteOne Landscape Supply for one (1) year contract pricing,
beginning December 8, 2016, through December 7, 2017, for sod for the Recreation Department
and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-18 A Resolution accepting the bid of Lee Smith, Inc., for the furnishing of two (2) Emergency
Medical Logistic Vehicles, amounting to $140,000.00 for Emergency Medical Services and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-19 A Resolution accepting the bid of Troxell Communications Inc., for a one (1) year contract unit
pricing, beginning November 17, 2016 through November 16, 2017 for the purchase of
projectors for the Hamilton County Circuit Court courtrooms and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-20 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of October 1, 2016,
through October 31, 2016, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-21 A Resolution accepting the bid of Prater Ford, Inc., for three (3) 4x4 half-ton pickup trucks,
amounting to $80,890.84, and the bid of Golden Circle Ford for three (3) 4x4 three-quarter ton
and two (2) 4x4 dual rear wheel one (1) ton pickup trucks amounting to $148,673.00 for
Hamilton County and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1216-22 A Resolution to amend the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” so as to accept the following
district roads and to establish speed limits therefore: Sir Charles Court and Will Drive as
extended.

Res. No. 1216-23 A Resolution to amend the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” so as to accept the following
district roads and to establish speed limits therefor: Stone Valley Lane, Deer Valley Drive as
extended, and Boulder Creek Trail as extended.



ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  November 9, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 9th day of November, 2016, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham,  

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Total present 

– 8.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and Interim County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd asked County Clerk Bill Knowles to offer the invocation.  

Commissioner Boyd led in the pledge to the flag. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 

2 
 

Chairman Bankston announced that there was not any scheduled business for 

the Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  November 9, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 9th day of November, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston.  Total 

present - 8.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and intermin County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 2 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

• A Report of Investment Activity for the quarter ending September 30, 2016 was 
submitted for the record.  

• Quarterly Fee Office reports, for the quarter ending July 31, 2016 were submitted 
for the record.  

• An order appointing Jeff Davis to the Hixson Utility District Board of 
Commissioners would be submitted for the record. 

• An order appointing Robertson Healy to the Savannah Valley Utility District would 
be submitted for the record. 

• An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

• Resolution No. 1116-14 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

• Resolution Nos. 1116-22 through 1116-26, 1116-27A, 1116-27B, 1116-28A, 
1116-28B, and 1116-29 were assigned to the Zoning Committee, Chaired by 
Commissioner Smedley. 

• Resolution Nos. 1116-30 through 1116-37 were assigned to Finance, Chaired by 
Commissioner Boyd. 

• Resolution Nos. 1116-15 through 1116-21 were heard by a Committee of the 
Whole.  

 
 

Chairman Bankston congratulated Dr. Greg Martin, who was in the audience, on 

winning the District 3 Commission seat in yesterday’s election.  

 

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 1116-15 through 1116-21 would 

now be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 3 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-15 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this item, which appoints Jenneth Randall as 

County Auditor. He reported that Ms. Randall has been serving as interim County 

Auditor since Bill McGriff’s retirement effective September 30, 2016. He stated that she 

has over 25 years of service with the County.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-16 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this item, which appoints Angel Moore and 

Chris Ramsey for a term ending January 2, 2017, Eve Nite, Rachel Schulson, and Dr. 

Jay Sizemore for a term ending February 19, 2018, Lesley Scearce and Christian 

Patino, for a term ending June 22, 2018 to the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional 

Health Council. He stated that of the previous appointees, one has passed away, one 

has retired, one has resigned, and others have not been able to attend a sufficient 

number of meetings during their tenure, creating a need for their replacement.  

  

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 4 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-17 

  

 This Resolution appoints Jody Millard as a regular member to the Sheriff’s Civil 

Service Advisory Board to fill the unexpired term of William Pippin, who passed away.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-18 

  

Commissioner Fields spoke regarding this item, which authorizes the expenditure 

of up to $150,000.00 from bond funds for resurfacing of the Red Bank High School 

track. He stated that his constituents contacted him about the condition of the track, and 

the Mayor’s office informed him that there were sufficient bond funds for the resurfacing 

project. Commissioner Fields listed several usages of the track including track meets, 

tournaments and championships that bring up to 300 students to the track, firefighter, 

FBI, military, and special Olympics training events, fundraisers and many other 

community events.  

 

Commissioner Fields distributed pictures to members of the Commission and the 

Mayor documenting the need for repairs. He noted that the track was last resurfaced in 

2010. The pictures were also furnished to the Clerk’s office and filed with the minutes.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 5 

Mayor Coppinger stated that the project has been thoroughly vetted by the 

Finance Department. He added that tracks provide an important service to the 

community.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-19 

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $5,000.00 

from general fund travel discretionary monies to Urban Impact Incorporated, as allotted 

to District 4. He noted that the funds will assist with community programs for children in 

his district.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Commissioner Mackey 

confirmed that the funds are from his travel discretionary account. Commissioner 

Graham stated his support for the Resolution.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-20 

  

 Attorney Taylor spoke regarding this item, which corrects an error stated in a 

previous meeting. The Resolution reports the correct term expiration of Chief Judicial 

Commissioner Randy Russell to be April 30, 2017. Mr. Russell was the sole nominee 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 6 

for Chief Judicial Commissioner and was elected by a roll call vote on October 26, 2016 

(Resolution No. 1016-39).  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-21 

 

 Alecia Poe, Human Resources Administrator, spoke regarding this Resolution, 

which accepts the proposal of EAP Care, Inc. to provide Employee Assistance Program 

(EAP) Services to Hamilton County employees for $1.55 per employee per month. It 

was noted that EAP Care, Inc. is the current provider and is a local company, which 

allows employees to receive immediate care if necessary.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fields’ question, Ms. Poe stated that $1.55 per 

employee per month adds up to $33,480.00 annually.   

 

 Commissioner Smedley announced that the Zoning Committee would be meeting 

in the Commission conference room immediately following the Agenda Session.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 7 

 Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, stated that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission room immediately following 

the Agenda Session.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Mayor Coppinger and members of the Commission congratulated Dr. Greg 

Martin on his successful election to the District 3 Commission seat yesterday. They 

each stated that they looked forward to working with Dr. Martin on the Commission and 

complimented his service on the School Board.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked Joe Smith, Dr. Martin’s opponent in yesterday’s 

election, for his willingness to serve. He encouraged any politician who participated in 

this campaign season to clean up their signs and stands, any other brochures or fliers 

as soon as possible.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 8 

Commissioner Graham announced that Friday, November 11th at 11:00 am, a 

Veteran’s Day Service will take place at the Chattanooga National Cemetery. He 

encouraged everyone to attend.  

 

Commissioner Smedley congratulated all the winners of yesterday’s election 

including President-elect, Donald Trump. She announced that next Monday at 6:00 pm, 

a community meeting held by School Board member Joe Wingate would be taking place 

at East Hamilton Middle/High School to discuss the selection of a new Superintendent 

of Schools.  

 

In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Chairman Bankston stated that 

the Commission will advertise the School Board vacancy once Dr. Martin has officially 

resigned.  

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke about the brush fires that have spread throughout the 

County, which is a total of about 1,000 acres. He praised all the work the volunteer fire 

departments have put into containing the fires, as well as local businesses that have 

provided food and other supplies to firefighters. He reported that no injuries have been 

reported and no houses are threatened at this time. He reminded everyone that open 

burning should not be taking place right now because of the unseasonably dry weather. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 9 

Mayor Coppinger also stated that the County pays $5,000 each year to the 

Forestry Service, who has been providing airdrops via helicopters to help contain the 

fires.  It was noted that two black hawk jets, costing $70,000 per day, are assisting the 

Forestry Service. 

 

Chairman Bankston thanked those working to contain the fires for all their hard 

work and dedication.     

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

NOVEMBER 9, 2016 
 
 

 10 

 Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, November 16th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved: 

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  November 16, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 16th day of November, 2016, a Regular 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Total present 

– 8. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Jenneth 

Randall.  

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

2 

 

Commissioner Boyd introduced Senior Minister Gary Armes, Hickory Valley 

Christian Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Boyd asked that Colonel Vic 

Irvin, East Ridge High School JROTC Senior Army Instructor, come to the podium. 

Colonel Irvin introduced several Cadets from the East Ridge High School JROTC 

Pioneer Battalion, who led in the pledge to the flag. Commissioner Boyd provided each 

Cadet with a package of memorabilia. Colonel Irvin and the Cadets shook hands with 

members of the Commission and Mayor Coppinger.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of October 26, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of October 26, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of November 2, 2016, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

3 

 

QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT  

 

 The quarterly investment report of Hamilton County, for the quarter ending 

September 30, 2016 was submitted as a matter of record.  

 

FEE OFFICE REPORTS  

 

 Fee reports for the following constitutional offices were submitted and made a 

matter of record:  

 

Clerk and Master – July 2016 through September 2016 
Circuit Court Clerk – July 2016 through September 2016 
Register of Deeds – July 2016 through September 2016 
County Clerk – July 2016 through September 2016 

 

ORDER OF APPOINTMENT 

 

 Mayor Coppinger submitted for the record an Order appointing Jeff Davis to the 

Hixson Utility District Board of Commissioners for a term beginning November 2, 2016 

and expiring June 14, 2020.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

4 

 

ORDER OF APPOINTMENT 

 

 Mayor Coppinger submitted for the record an Order appointing Robertson Healy 

to the Savannah Valley Utility District Board of Commissioners for a term beginning 

November 17, 2016 and expiring November 17, 2020.  

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

 An Order was recorded designating Todd Leamon to sit as the County Mayor’s 

representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting of November 14, 2016.   

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-14 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATH OF CHIEF JUDICIAL 

COMMISSIONER, AND OATHS OF JUDICIAL COMMISSIONERS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-14. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

5 

 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 1116-15 through 1116-21 

were heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-15 A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT BY 

THE COUNTY MAYOR OF JENNETH RANDALL AS COUNTY AUDITOR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-15. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-16 A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT OF 

SEVEN MEMBERS TO THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY REGIONAL 

HEALTH COUNCIL FOR TERMS AS DESIGNATED HEREIN-BELOW. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

6 

 

 This Resolution appoints Angel Moore and Chris Ramsey for a term ending 

January 2, 2017, Eve Nite, Rachel Schulson, and Dr. Jay Sizemore for a term ending 

February 19, 2018, and Lesley Scearce and Christian Patino, for a term ending June 

22, 2018. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-16. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-17 A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT A REGULAR MEMBER 

TO THE SHERIFFS CIVIL SERVICE ADVISORY BOARD TO FILL THE UNEXPIRED 

TERM OF WILLIAM PIPPIN. 

 

 This Resolution appoints Jody Millard to fill the unexpired term of William Pippin, 

who passed away.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

7 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-17. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-18 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

UP TO ONE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($150,000.00) FROM BOND 

FUNDS FOR RESURFACING OF THE RED BANK HIGH SCHOOL TRACK. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-18. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

8 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-19 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

URBAN IMPACT INCORPORATED IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($5,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND TRAVEL DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-19. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-20 A RESOLUTION CORRECTING AN ERROR AS TO THE 

EXPIRATION OF THE TERM IN THE DESIGNATION OF RANDY RUSSELL AS 

CHIEF JUDICIAL COMMISSIONER TO REFLECT THE CORRECT ENDING DATE 

AS APRIL 30, 2017. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-20. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

9 

 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-21 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF EAP 

CARE, INC. TO PROVIDE EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP) SERVICES 

TO HAMILTON COUNTY EMPLOYEES FOR $1.55 PER EMPLOYEE PER MONTH 

AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-21. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

10 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 1116-22 through 1116-26, 1116-

27A, 1116-27B, 1116-28A, 1116-28B, and 1116-29 be considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-22 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR 

A SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 815 SOUTH 

SCENIC HIGHWAY. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-23 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR 

A SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7029 

MAPLEWOOD LANE. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-24 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR 

A SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 3073 

BAGGETT TRAIL. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-25 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR 

A SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7808 HIXSON 

PIKE. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-26 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR 

A SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16112 

LAKEWOOD DRIVE. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

11 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-27A A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL 

EXCEPTIONS PERMIT TO LIFT & AMEND CONDITIONS OF RESOLUTION 1114-

25C OF PREVIOUS CASE NO. 2014-119 FROM PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1650 & 

1724 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD & 9716 EAST BRAINERD ROAD.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-27B A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL 

EXCEPTIONS PERMIT TO LIFT & AMEND CONDITIONS OF RESOLUTION 1114-

25C OF PREVIOUS CASE NO. 2014-119 FROM PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1650 & 

1724 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD & 9716 EAST BRAINERD ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-28A A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL 

EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1650 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-28B A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL 

EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1650 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-29 A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AN UPDATED RIGHT-OF-

WAY CLOSURE AND ABANDONMENT POLICY FOR HAMILTON COUNTY. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

12 

 

 Commissioner Smedley, Chairman of the Zoning Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-22 through 1116-24, and stated the Zoning Committee 

reviewed and recommended approval. It was noted that no opposition was present.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley stated that there was some concern that the language of 

the special permits did not contain terms of revocation, or clawback provisions.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Attorney Taylor explained that 

he would need time to research how the County could add a clawback provision as a 

condition on a special permit, and therefore the items could not be amended to include 

that condition today.  

 

 Regional Planning Agency Executive Director John Bridger stated that he was 

not aware of that type of condition being added on a special permit in the past. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Attorney Taylor stated that he 

agreed that a clawback provision is necessary to give the County the authority to revoke 

permits if necessary, but was unsure if that condition could be added. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1116-22 through 1116-24. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

13 

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Bridger reported that all the 

properties have different owners, but are managed by the same company, Lookout 

Mountain Vacation Rentals.  

 

 Commissioner Boyd stated that if the Commission approved the permits today 

and later added a clawback provision, the current rentals could be exempted or 

grandfathered in. He added that clawback provisions are an important part of short term 

rentals. He encouraged the Commission to consider delaying the items until more 

information could be provided.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Chairman Bankston confirmed 

that the properties do represent the advancement of business and commerce in 

Hamilton County. Commissioner Graham added that special permits also help with 

keeping records for collecting the hotel/motel tax.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Attorney Taylor noted that he 

is concerned about approving the special permits and then adding a clawback provision 

after the fact. Commissioner Graham stated that he supports delaying the items. 

 

 Commissioner Fields questioned the need for clawback provisions. He noted that 

the purpose of the special permit is to track if the properties are being used as short 

term vacation rentals, but the zoning of the properties will not change.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

14 

 

 Commissioner Smedley reported that the issue came up because of reports of a 

nuisance at one of the properties. It was noted that in the event the owners or renters of 

the properties are not following the standards in the agreement, the County would have 

very little recourse without clawback provisions.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Beck, to postpone 

Resolution Nos. 1116-22 through 1116-24 until the County Attorney reports back to the 

Commission with further information regarding adding the clawback provisions.  

 

 Mr. Bridger reported that if Attorney Taylor finds that Hamilton County zoning 

regulations need to be amended; those amendments will have to be heard before the 

Regional Planning Agency before the Commission can approve them.  

 

 In response to Chairman Bankston’s question, Mr. Bridger listed several 

conditions that already exist for short term vacation rentals. They currently cannot be 

rented for more than 30 days, have more than five sleeping quarters, and the special 

permits are not transferable if ownership of the property changes.  

 

 Commissioner Boyd stated that the conditions Mr. Bridger listed do not address 

nuisance complaints. He added that the County needs authority over the permits in the 

event that the owners or supervisors of the property are not upholding their end of the 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

15 

 

agreement. He emphasized the importance of the County having some recourse over 

the properties.  

 

 Attorney Taylor agreed with Commissioner Boyd’s comments and stated that 

these issues need to be addressed prior to approval. It was noted that while the City of 

Chattanooga did not approve special permits for short term vacation rentals, there was 

a clawback provision in the agreement.  

 

 Commissioner Fields clarified that the current Motion on the table is to postpone 

until Attorney Taylor provides more information regarding adding a clawback provision.  

 

 Christina Thoreson, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rentals, addressed the 

Commission. She stated that as the management company for the properties they have 

an extensive and thorough agreement that all renters must sign. She reported that no 

parties or events are allowed on the properties, and they perform checks to make sure 

the agreement is enforced. She agreed that the permits should be revocable in the 

event that owners are not upholding their end of the agreement.  

 

 Chairman Bankston questioned what authority the management company had if 

someone is breaking the terms of their agreement. Mrs. Thoreson stated that they have 

never had a situation where that has occurred.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

16 

 

 Commissioner Smedley commended Mrs. Thoreson for the detailed rental 

agreement and procedure they have in place, but stated that it is still important for the 

County to have some authority over the permits.  

 

The foregoing Motion to postpone was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-25 and 

1116-26. It was noted that no opposition was present. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

postpone Resolution Nos. 1116-25 and 1116-26 until Attorney Taylor provides more 

information regarding adding a clawback provision to the special permit conditions.  

 

 James Rogers, 4520 Shawhan Road, Chattanooga, TN 37411, addressed the 

Commission regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-25 and 1116-26. He reported that he 

agreed with the Commission that a clawback provision was necessary. He questioned 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

17 

 

the possibility of conditional approval of the permits. Attorney Taylor responded that 

conditional approval was not possible.  

 

The foregoing Motion to postpone was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-27A, 

1116-27B, 1116-28A, and 1116-28B. She reported that the applicant contacted her and 

asked that the Resolutions be postponed until the November 30, 2016 Agenda Session.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to postpone Resolution Nos. 1116-27A, 1116-27B, 1116-28A, and 1116-28B until the 

Agenda Session on November 30, 2016.  

 

The foregoing Motion to postpone was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

18 

 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution No. 1116-29, and 

stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1116-29. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted 

on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being 

present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 1116-30 through 1116-37 be 

considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-30 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 

IAPRO SOFTWARE AND SUPPORT SERVICES FROM CI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

FOR THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE AMOUNTING TO $34,000.00 AND AUTHORIZING 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

19 

 

THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 

THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-31 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 

NS400 SERIES LOCKS FROM WESTERN DETENTION PRODUCTS INC., FOR 

HAMILTON COUNTY JUVENILE COURT DETENTION CENTER AMOUNTING TO 

$22,915.00, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-32 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY, TENNESSEE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

AGENCY AND HAMILTON COUNTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $150,500 (ONE 

HUNDRED AND FIFTY THOUSAND AND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS).  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-33 A RESOLUTION TO WAIVE THE PURCHASING RULES 

AND AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO TRANSFER A SURPLUS VEHICLE TO 

THE FORGOTTEN CHILD FUND. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-34 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

20 

 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN AN AMENDMENT TO THE PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY 

PREPAREDNESS GRANT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 

FOR THE PROVISION OF EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS ACTIVITIES TO 

INCREASE IT FROM $528,100.00 TO $541,500.00 FOR THE 12 MONTH TIME 

PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 1, 2016 - JUNE 30, 2017 AND TO AMEND THE 

HOMELAND SECURITY BUDGET FOR FY 2017 BY ADDING $13,400.00 TO THE 

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE BUDGET. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-35 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PROPOSAL FROM 

QUATRED, LLC, FOR THE PURCHASE OF SOFTWARE AND SERVICES 

COMPATIABLE WITH THE ONESOLUTION FINANCIAL SYSTEM SOFTWARE FOR 

MOBILE COMPUTING, BARCODING, AND RFID FIXED ASSESTS INTEGRATION 

FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY FINANCE DEPARTMENT AMOUNTING TO 

$36,988.68, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-36 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CARRIAGE 

NISSAN FOR MODEL YEAR (2017) CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR MID-SIZE 

FLEET STAFF SEDANS FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

21 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-37 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF PRATER 

FORD, INC., FOR MID-SIZE AND SMALL UTILITY VEHICLES FOR HAMILTON 

COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 

NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-30 through 1116-37, and stated that the Finance 

Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-30 through 1116-37. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

22 

 

Members of the Commission, Attorney Taylor, and Mayor Coppinger wished 

everyone a safe and happy Thanksgiving.  

 

Commissioner Mackey reported that a local newspaper article stated over 1 

million Tennesseans would be traveling during the Thanksgiving holiday.  

 

Commissioner Graham announced that there was a great turnout at the 

Veteran’s Day Service at the Chattanooga National Cemetery last weekend. He 

encouraged everyone to thank veterans and first responders, especially during the 

Thanksgiving season.  

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke about the fire danger the community is facing, and 

encouraged everyone to be safe. He thanked Mayor Coppinger for the burn ban that 

was put into effect in Hamilton County. Commissioner Boyd reported that while driving 

to Atlanta, he noticed the smoke from local wildfires reached as far as Marietta.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks congratulated Jenneth Randall on her appointment as 

County Auditor, and thanked Mayor Coppinger for rewarding her many years of service. 

He also thanked Commissioner Boyd for bringing the East Ridge High School JROTC 

Cadets to today’s meeting to lead in the pledge to the flag.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

23 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks also commended the hard work Chief Chris 

Weddington and the Mowbray Volunteer Fire Department do to combat and contain the 

wildfires. He emphasized that they are volunteers dedicating their time to protect the 

community.  

 

Commissioner Smedley announced that the 2nd annual Tree Lighting Ceremony 

will take place at Heritage Park on Friday, December 2nd at 6:00 PM. She stated that 

students from District 7 schools will be singing Christmas carols, and encouraged 

everyone to attend. Commissioner Smedley also reported that a positive story about 

Mayor Coppinger and Director of General Services Lee Norris was in the East Hamilton 

Community News after they took the time to address issues in District 7 last week.  

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Commissioners for their approval of Jenneth Randall 

as County Auditor, and stated that she earned the position.  

 

Mayor Coppinger also spoke about the wildfires, and commended the hard work 

of the volunteer fire departments, as well as the agencies that have provided support 

from other areas to combat the fires. He commended the Hamilton County Emergency 

Management, as well as the GIS Department for their coordinated efforts in keeping the 

fires contained. He reported that the tactics and strategies in fighting the wildfires are 

developed through a GIS mapping system that is updated daily.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

24 

 

Mayor Coppinger reported that the federal government has provided many 

resources to our area, including teams from California, Oregon, Nevada, Texas, Florida, 

and strike teams from Middle Tennessee. He specifically mentioned municipalities of 

Signal Mountain, Soddy Daisy, Red Bank, Walden, and the City of Chattanooga for their 

well-organized efforts in providing resources. It was noted that the fires have currently 

burned over 1,000 acres in Hamilton County, and only minor injuries have occurred.  

 

Mayor Coppinger commended the efforts of everyone involved for their 

dedication and hard work in providing resources when disaster strikes the community.  

 

Chairman Bankston congratulated Jenneth Randall on her appointment as 

County Auditor.  

 

Chairman Bankston announced that the Commission would begin accepting 

applications for the District 3 School Board seat on Friday, November 18th. The deadline 

for submitting an application is Tuesday, November 22nd at 4:00 PM.  

 

In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Chairman Bankston stated that 

Commissioners can interview candidates at any time. He reported that a community 

forum will place on November 28th in Hixson.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

25 

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Chairman Bankston stated that 

the interviews will be on an individual basis. He stated that a public announcement 

should be made if more than one Commissioner is interviewing a candidate.  

 

In response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Chairman Bankston stated 

that he would report back to the Commission with details about the community forum.  

 

Commissioner Beck stated that he would encourage a straw poll at the 

community forum to allow the constituents of District 3 to voice their opinion on a 

candidate.  

 

In response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Chairman Bankston stated 

that the format of the forum and the amount of public input would be up to the 

committee hosting the forum.   

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 16, 2016 

 

26 

 

There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, November 30, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

       

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 
 

        









































No. 1216-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, AND THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2.  That the persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
 hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
 approved as taken; and 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 3. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



















No. 1216-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY MAYOR 
OF TWO MEMBERS TO THE EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS DISTRICT BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS FOR TERMS ENDING NOVEMBER 21, 2020. 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 7-86-105(b)(1), members of 

the Hamilton County Emergency Communications District Board of Directors 
are appointed by the County Mayor and confirmed by the Board of County 
Commissioners; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the County Mayor reappoints Richard Brown and Teddy Rogers to four year 

terms, beginning November 21, 2016 and ending November 21, 2020. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the reappointment of Richard Brown and Teddy Rogers to the Hamilton County 
Emergency Communications District Board of Directors is hereby confirmed for the terms as 
stated above; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



Dr. Richard Lee Brown 
 

 

Dr. Richard Lee Brown presently serves as Executive Vice Chancellor for Finance, Operations 
and Information Technology at the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga. In this senior 
capacity, he is an executive-level administrator and serves as a senior member of the 
Chancellor’s executive planning staff.  

As the institution’s chief operations and chief business officer, he is responsible for the overall 
University business and financial planning; human resources; auxiliary services; information 
technology and communication services; sports and entertainment venues; safety and risk 
management; safety and environmental health; parking services; security and campus police; 
purchasing; bursar’s office; master planning; facilities planning and management; capital 
projects and capital budgeting; equity and diversity; community outreach initiatives; major 
service centers - including the bookstore; food services; telecommunication services; the UTC 
McKenzie Arena; and student housing. 

Dr. Brown brings more than 30 years of progressive experience and institutional leadership to 
the field of higher education. He guided the implementation of the campus master plan, which 
provided more than $400 million in capital improvements to UTC during the last 15 years. Dr. 
Brown also completed the University IT master plan, which positions UTC to move technology 
forward in the 21st century. He has guided the University through many years of turbulent 
budget and financial challenges and has positioned UTC to implement its strategic mission via 
effective fiscal resource management and utilization.  As Executive Vice Chancellor, he plays an 
integral role in overall institutional planning, quality assessment, efficiency and effectiveness 
and accreditation processes. He was innovative and instrumental in creating the University 
Planning and Resources Advisory Council, which aligns institutional strategic planning with 
financial resource allocations. 

Dr Brown was selected by the Tennessee Higher Education Commission to assist with the 
development of a “new higher education performance-based funding model” in compliance with 
the Complete College Tennessee Act. He has been selected by UT President Dr. Joe DiPietro to 
chair the Compensation Advisory Board (CAB) - a mission-critical position charged with the 



planning and strategic investment in the overall quality of all human capital, along with the 
development of a five-year competitive compensation plan for all UT campuses.  

During his many years of financial and operational leadership at UTC, he helped transform the 
University by designing and implementing contemporary business models and related 
methodologies. His work has enhanced the academic, operational and student-learning 
environments while expanding student access and ensuring student success. 

Dr. Brown is a graduate and past president of Leadership Chattanooga Alumni Association. He 
received his Bachelor and Master degrees from the University of Tennessee, Chattanooga; and 
earned a Master of Science in Business Administration degree; he further studied at the Nashville 
School of Law. He earned a Doctorate of Education degree from Trevecca Nazarene University, 
where he received the Dissertation Research Excellence Award. He is a graduate of the 
University of Tennessee Executive Development Program via the UT College of Business.  

Dr. Brown is also a graduate of the prestigious Harvard University Business School’s Advanced 
Management Program. While at Harvard, Dr. Brown studied with prominent financial and 
business leaders from 42 countries around the world, providing the opportunity to share as well 
as gain a wealth of knowledge regarding various complex and different financial, business 
management methods and sustainable economic models.  

He has served on numerous boards and public service entities to include Chattanooga United 
Way; Hamilton County 911; Juvenile Court Commission; Community Foundation of 
Chattanooga; Enterprise Economic Development Center for the City of Chattanooga; 
Community Research Council; Community Outreach Partnership Center; Trust for Public Land; 
Cornerstones Historical Preservation; Southern Association of College and University Business 
Officers; Board of Directors of Siskin Rehabilitation Hospital; Board of Directors for the Bessie 
Smith Cultural Center; Board of Directors for the Tennessee Center for Performance Excellence; 
and the UT System-wide Diversity Advisory Council. 

Dr. Richard Lee Brown is known and highly respected not only in higher education, but also 
locally, statewide and internationally, as a one who has built a long standing career off hard 
work, excellence, integrity, fiscal responsibility, and sound business principles. For him, this is 
the formula for sustainable financial stability and longevity of service, and is indicative of his 
extensive tenure and service at the University of Tennessee Chattanooga, and within the 
University of Tennessee system. 

 







No. 1216-3 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO HIGHWAY 58 VOLUNTEER FIRE 
DEPARTMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM 
GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on their 
nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston desires to allocate a total amount of one thousand 

dollars ($500.00 from his General Fund discretionary monies and $500.00 from his 
Travel discretionary monies) to Highway 58 Volunteer Fire Department to assist with 
their Christmas program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
  
That one thousand dollars ($500.00 from General Fund discretionary monies and $500.00 from Travel 
discretionary monies) be allocated to Highway 58 Volunteer Fire Department to assist with their 
Christmas program. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 
appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 



 

 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1216-4 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF VIRCO, INC., FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING 
BEGINNING DECEMBER 8, 2016, THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017, FOR SCHOOL FURNITURE FOR 
SALE CREEK MIDDLE AND HIGH  SCHOOL AND ANY ADDITIONAL SCHOOLS NEEDING 
FURNITURE FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, AND TO 
AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract pricing for school 

furniture for the Hamilton County Department of Education; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid of Virco, Inc., was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and,  
 
WHEREAS,  there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Virco, Inc., for contract pricing beginning December 8, 2016, through June 30, 2017, 
for school furniture for Sale Creek Middle and High School and any additional schools needing 
furniture for the Hamilton County Department of Education is hereby accepted, said bid being the 
lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

SPECIFICATIONS 
 

Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for contract unit pricing for school furniture for 
Sale Creek Middle High School.  
 
BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 
The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response 
document in a sealed envelope before 10:30 A.M. (ET) on November 7, 2016 to the Hamilton 
County Purchasing Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the 
following statement “BID# 1016-049: School Furniture”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed 
within this envelope/package should also be clearly marked with the same label.  
 
Bidder is required to return the Contract Work on School Grounds Affidavit with their bid 
documents. 
 
NOTE:  IMPORTANT DELIVER/MAILING INSTRUCTIONS 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a 
bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing 

Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
 CONTACTS: 
  
Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to Ms. Mary Wright, (423) 209-
5608. 
 
Questions concerning bid procedures should be directed to Janie Burley, Hamilton County 
Purchasing Department, at BidQuestions@HamiltonTN.gov or (423) 209-6350. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Hamilton County requires that the successful bidder(s) have the following insurance coverages 
at the time of delivery. 
 

Minimum Limits of Insurance 
 
1. Commercial General Liability Insurance -$1,000,000 limit per occurrence for property 

damage and bodily injury.  The service provider shall indicate in its bid whether the 
coverage is provided on a claims-made or (preferably) on an occurrence basis.  The 
insurance shall include coverage for the following: 

 
a) Premise/Operations 
b) Products/Completed Operations 
c) Contractual 
d) Independent Contractors 
e) Broad Form Property Damage 
f) Personal Injury 

 
2. Business Automobile Liability Insurance - $1,000,000 limit per accident for property 

damage and personal injury. 
 

a) Owned/Leased Autos 
b) Non-owned Autos 
c) Hired Autos 

 
3. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance – Workers’ Compensation 

statutory limits as required by Tennessee law.  This policy should also include 
Employer’s Liability Coverage for $1,000,000. 

 
In addition, Hamilton County shall be listed as an additional insured on the above required 
liability insurance policies.  A signed certificate of insurance shall evidence all policies and 
coverage shall not be cancelled without a minimum of thirty (30) days cancellation notice to 
the Hamilton County Risk Management Office.  All coverage shall be placed with Tennessee 
admitted insurers rated B+10 or better by A.M. Best’s rating service or as approved by Hamilton 
County’s Risk Manager. 
 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED FORMS 

The attached Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms must be signed and 
submitted as a part of your bid submission package. Bidder is also required to return the 
Contract Work on School Grounds Affidavit with their bid documents. 
 
 



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
FURNITURE BID 

 
Vendor will maintain unit cost pricing through June 30, 2017. All Unit Cost Pricing must include 
all shipping/delivery charges to designated school. Following initial purchase, Purchaser 
reserves the right to purchase at Unit Cost per item plus freight charges for any school in the 
system through June 30, 2017. 
 
Purchaser reserves the right to award a lump sum bid for all items listed or to separate and 
choose items individually. This decision will be at the sole discretion of the purchaser. Qualified 
or conditional bids will not be accepted. 
 
Furniture will be delivered to individual schools and assembled by vendor. Owner will provide 
assembly heights for various grade levels. Vendor must assemble according to owner-supplied 
instructions.   
                                                                                                       
Furniture will be unloaded and placed in a central receiving area or areas and assembled by 
vendor. Vendor will place furniture in individual rooms.   
 
VENDOR WILL UNCRATE, REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL SHIPPING MATERIALS, CARDBOARD, 
CRATES, ETC.  DISPOSAL IS THE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY OF VENDOR. 
 
All furniture must be assembled within seven working days of delivery or as directed by 
Purchaser.                                                                 
 
Deliveries must be made Monday through Friday, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. 
 
Two day advance notice required prior to delivery. Contact Bill Travis (423) 209-5600.   
            
Vendor, by the act of submitting a bid, accepts the terms and conditions as listed.   
 
Vendor must provide proof of minimum insurance requirements at time bid is awarded. See 
attached Minimum Insurance Requirements. 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

DELIVERY INFORMATION 
 
Sale Creek Middle High School 
211 Patterson Road 
Sale Creek TN 37373 
 
No furniture will be accepted before:  December 19, 2016.  
Furniture must be on site no later than:  December 30, 2016. 
 
Inside Delivery required. All furniture must be assembled within seven (7) working days of 
delivery or as directed by Purchaser. 
 
Two (2) days advance notice required prior to delivery. Please contact Bill Travis (423) 209-5600 
to schedule delivery. 
 
 

Item No. Description  Qty.  Unit Price  Total 
 

1. 
 
Student Desks w/wire book rack 

  
 270 

    
 

 
 

 
Manufacturer 

 
Virco  

 
 

 
Catalog # 

 
72BRLBM  - no substitutes 

  

Fully chrome heavy gauge steel, U-shaped legs, top composed of 5/8" thermoset 
plastic, wrap around leg brace for extra support, includes 4 nylon based swivel 
glides (1 adjustable), under-desk steel wire bookrack for storage space.  
Adjustable table height increasing in 1 in. increments. 

 

 
Item No. Description  Qty.  Unit Price  Total 

 
2. 

 
Stools – Adjustable 

 
 

 
   60 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
Manufacturer 

 
Virco  

 
 

 
Catalog # 

 
1201927SG - no substitutes 

 
 

  

Injection molded polypropylene plastic seat, 17 gauge 1” upper leg, 16 gauge 7/8” 
lower leg, chrome frame.  

 



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

 

 

  

Item. No. Description  Qty.  Unit Price  Total 
 

3. 
 
Rolling teacher stools  

  

   11                                                                                                                     
  

 

  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

 
 
 

 
Manufacturer 

 

Virco  

 
 

 
Catalog # 

 
Zuma ZLAB  - no substitutes 

  
Adjustable height 19 ½ - 27”, 8-gauge steel swivel plate, one-piece injection molded 
poly plastic shell with waterfall edge, five 2” casters, 18” diameter adjustable 
footring.  

  

 
 
 
 
 

Company Name: ___________________________________________________ 
 
By: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
Email Address: ____________________________________________________ 
 
Phone: ___________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

  



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 
true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 
certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 
County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 
these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 
documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________   
Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification 
and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of 
this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of 
Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, 
agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with 
the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________  

 Date:    _________________________________________ 
 

  



Bid # 1016-049: School Furniture 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

SECTION 00417 
CONTRACT WORK ON SCHOOL GROUNDS AFFIDAVIT 

 
STATE OF ___________________ 
 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 
The undersigned, principal officer of ______________________________________, an employer 
contracting with Hamilton County to provide construction services on the grounds of a school when 
children are present, hereby states under oath as follows: 
 

1. The undersigned is a principal officer of ________________________________  (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Company”), and is duly authorized to execute this Affidavit on behalf of the 
Company. 

 
2. In submitting this bid, you are certifying that you are aware of the requirements imposed by 

T.C.A.§ 49-5-413(d) to conduct criminal background checks through the Tennessee Bureau of 
Investigation and the Federal Bureau of Investigation on yourself and any of your employees 
who come in direct contact with students or who may come on or about school property 
anytime students are present. You are further certifying that at no time will you ever permit any 
individual who has committed a sexual offense or who is a registered sex offender to come in 
direct contact with children or to come on or about school property while students are present.  

 
3. The Company is in compliance with T.C.A.§ 49-5-413. 

 
Further affiant saith not. 
 
____________________________________________ 
Principal Officer 
 
STATE OF___________________________ 
 
COUNTY OF_________________________ 
 
Before me personally appeared______________________, with whom I am personally acquainted (or 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who acknowledged that such person executed 
the foregoing affidavit for the purposes therein contained.  
 
Witness my hand and seal at office this ________ day of _________________, 20____. 
 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 Notary Public 
My commission expires: __________________ 

 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Sale Creek Middle & High School Furniture BOE / Purchasing

Monday, November 07, 2016 10:30 AM

Vendor/Info

Qty Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price

Students Desks w/wire book rack, Virco, 

Catalog#: 72BRLBM
270 $97.88 $26,427.60 $129.74 $35,029.80 $142.78 $38,550.60

Stools-adjustable, Virco, Catalog#: 

1201927SG
60 $50.72 $3,043.20 $67.22 $4,033.20 $73.98 $4,438.80

Rolling teacher stools, Virco, Catalog#: Zuma 

ZLAB
11 $134.70 $1,481.70 $178.53 $1,963.83 $196.48 $2,161.28

Receiving, Delivery & Installation N/A N/A $1,800.00

Total Bid Price $30,952.50 $41,026.83 $46,950.68

Delivery

Terms

Request For Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 10/25/2016 Low bid - Meets specs

Vendor Notification: 300

Vendor Response: 4 (One No-bid)

Budgeted: Bond

Net 30

Virco Inc. OCI (HC) Azor Inc.

2-8 weeks ARO

Net 10, 50% deposit 

required



No. 1216-5 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF UNISTAR-SPARCO COMPUTERS, INC., FOR 
TELEVISIONS, WALL MOUNTS, AND A MOBILE TV CART, FOR SALE CREEK MIDDLE 
AND HIGH SCHOOL  AMOUNTING TO $17,479.16 FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 
AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for a total of (14) 70” LED 

smart televisions, (2) 43” LED smart televisions, (15) wall mounting brackets and 
(1) mobile TV cart for Sale Creek Middle and High School for the  Department of 
Education; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Unistar-Sparco Computers, Inc., for televisions, wall mounts, and 

mobile TV cart, amounting to $17,479.16 was considered to be the lowest and best 
bid received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Unistar-Sparco Computers, Inc., for televisions, wall mounts, and mobile TV cart, 
amounting to $17,479.16 for Sale Creek Middle and High School for the Department of Education is 
hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to 
sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

SPECIFICATIONS 
 

Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for televisions, mounts and mobile carts for Sale 
Creek Middle High School. All prices must include shipping/inside delivery to the school. The 
County will install the televisions. The manufacturers listed are preferred. Bidder must include 
make and model numbers if bidding an alternate. Include warranty terms with your bid 
submittal. Purchaser reserves the right to award a lump sum bid for all items listed or to 
separate and choose items individually. This decision will be at the sole discretion of the 
purchaser. Qualified or conditional bids will not be accepted. 
 

 

BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 
The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response 
document in a sealed envelope before 11:00 A.M. (ET) on November 7, 2016 to the Hamilton 
County Purchasing Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the 
following statement “BID# 1016-050: Televisions and Mounts”.  Any sealed envelope(s) 
enclosed within this envelope/package should also be clearly marked with the same label.  
 
Bidder is required to return the Contract Work on School Grounds Affidavit with their bid 
documents. 
 
NOTE:  IMPORTANT DELIVER/MAILING INSTRUCTIONS 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a 
bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing 

Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1016-050: Televisions and Mounts {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
 CONTACTS: 
  
Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to Ms. Mary Wright, (423) 209-
5608. 
 
Questions concerning bid procedures should be directed to Janie Burley, Hamilton County 
Purchasing Department, at BidQuestions@HamiltonTN.gov or (423) 209-6350. 
 



Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Hamilton County requires that the successful bidder(s) have the following insurance coverages 
at the time of delivery. 
 

Minimum Limits of Insurance 
 
1. Commercial General Liability Insurance -$1,000,000 limit per occurrence for property 

damage and bodily injury.  The service provider shall indicate in its bid whether the 
coverage is provided on a claims-made or (preferably) on an occurrence basis.  The 
insurance shall include coverage for the following: 

 
a) Premise/Operations 
b) Products/Completed Operations 
c) Contractual 
d) Independent Contractors 
e) Broad Form Property Damage 
f) Personal Injury 

 
2. Business Automobile Liability Insurance - $1,000,000 limit per accident for property 

damage and personal injury. 
 

a) Owned/Leased Autos 
b) Non-owned Autos 
c) Hired Autos 

 
3. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance – Workers’ Compensation 

statutory limits as required by Tennessee law.  This policy should also include 
Employer’s Liability Coverage for $1,000,000. 

 
In addition, Hamilton County shall be listed as an additional insured on the above required 
liability insurance policies.  A signed certificate of insurance shall evidence all policies and 
coverage shall not be cancelled without a minimum of thirty (30) days cancellation notice to 
the Hamilton County Risk Management Office.  All coverage shall be placed with Tennessee 
admitted insurers rated B+10 or better by A.M. Best’s rating service or as approved by Hamilton 
County’s Risk Manager. 
 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED FORMS 

The attached Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms must be signed and 
submitted as a part of your bid submission package. Bidder is also required to return the 
Contract Work on School Grounds Affidavit with their bid documents. 
 
 



Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

PRODUCT(S) DESCRIPTION  
 
(14) 70” Televisions – Vizio 70” - D70-D3 LED Smart TV or equal. Wi-Fi connectivity, HDMI. 

(2) 43” Televisions – Sharp 43” - LC43LB371U LED Smart TV or equal. LED 1080p display, remote 
control, built-in Wi-Fi, HDMI. 
 
(15) Mounting Brackets – Peerless ST650 SmartMount or equal.  Holds 39”-75” displays, tilt 
angle, distance from wall to back of flat panel – 2.6”, non-model specific, black powder coat 
finish, load capacity – 175lbs 
 
(1) Mobile TV Cart - Balt Platinum Plasma Television Cart Stand 27544. Holds up to 50”/100lbs. 
Tilts up to 37 degrees. Includes AV shelf.  
 
Bidder must include make and model numbers if bidding an alternate (or equal) product. 
Include warranty terms with your bid submittal. 
 
Bids to include freight.   
 
 
 
 
DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS 
 
Deliver to: Sale Creek Middle High School 
  211 Patterson Road 
  Sale Creek TN 37373 
 
Deliveries should be made to the school between 12/19/2016 – 12/30/2016, Monday through 
Friday between the hours of 7:30 a.m. and 2:00 p.m.  
 
Contact Bill Travis for scheduling (423)-209-5600.   
 
 
  
 
 
 
  



Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

PRICING SHEET 
 
SALE CREEK MIDDLE HIGH SCHOOL: 
 
 

                  

Qty Description 
 

Unit Price 
 

Extended 
Price 

 
Model (if different 
From brand listed) 

14 
ea. 

70” Televisions – Vizio 70” - D70-D3 
LED Smart TV or equal. Wi-Fi 
connectivity, HDMI. 

   

2 ea. 

43” Televisions – Sharp 43” - 
LC43LB371U LED Smart TV or equal. 
LED 1080p display, remote control, 
built-in Wi-Fi, HDMI. 

   

15 
ea. 

Mounting Brackets – Peerless ST650 
SmartMount or equal. Holds 39”-75” 
displays, tilt angle,   distance from 
wall to back of flat panel – 2.6”, non-
model specific, black powder coat 
finish, load capacity – 175lbs 

   

1 ea. 

Mobile TV Carts - Balt Platinum 
Plasma Television Cart Stand 27544. 
Holds up to 50”/100lbs. Tilts up to 37 
degrees. Includes AV shelf.  

   

 

     Total Bid Price: 
 

 

 

 

NOTE: Bids to include freight.   
 

 
Company Name: ___________________________________________________ 
 
By: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
Email Address: ____________________________________________________ 
 
Phone: ___________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

  



Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 
true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 
certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 
County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 
these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 
documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________   
Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification 
and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of 
this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of 
Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, 
agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with 
the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________  

 Date:    _________________________________________ 
 

  



Bid # 1016-050: Televisions, Mounts, and Mobile Carts 
Hamilton County, TN 
 

SECTION 00417 
CONTRACT WORK ON SCHOOL GROUNDS AFFIDAVIT 

 
STATE OF ___________________ 
 
COUNTY OF _________________ 
 
The undersigned, principal officer of ______________________________________, an employer 
contracting with Hamilton County to provide construction services on the grounds of a school when 
children are present, hereby states under oath as follows: 
 

1. The undersigned is a principal officer of ________________________________  (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Company”), and is duly authorized to execute this Affidavit on behalf of the 
Company. 

 
2. In submitting this bid, you are certifying that you are aware of the requirements imposed by 

T.C.A.§ 49-5-413(d) to conduct criminal background checks through the Tennessee Bureau of 
Investigation and the Federal Bureau of Investigation on yourself and any of your employees 
who come in direct contact with students or who may come on or about school property 
anytime students are present. You are further certifying that at no time will you ever permit any 
individual who has committed a sexual offense or who is a registered sex offender to come in 
direct contact with children or to come on or about school property while students are present.  

 
3. The Company is in compliance with T.C.A.§ 49-5-413. 

 
Further affiant saith not. 
 
____________________________________________ 
Principal Officer 
 
STATE OF___________________________ 
 
COUNTY OF_________________________ 
 
Before me personally appeared______________________, with whom I am personally acquainted (or 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence), and who acknowledged that such person executed 
the foregoing affidavit for the purposes therein contained.  
 
Witness my hand and seal at office this ________ day of _________________, 20____. 
 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 Notary Public 
My commission expires: __________________ 

 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







TVs, Mounts and Mobile carts for Sale Creek Middle & High School BOE / Purchasing

Monday, November 07, 2016 11:00 AM

Vendor/Info

Qty Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price

70” Televisions – Vizio 70” - D70-D3 LED 

Smart TV or equal. Wi-Fi connectivity, HDMI.
14 $1,142.03 $15,988.42 $1,093.00 $15,302.00 $1,200.00 $16,800.00

43” Televisions – Sharp 43” - LC43LB371U 

LED Smart TV or equal. LED 1080p display, 

remote control, built-in Wi-Fi, HDMI.

2 $398.06 $796.12 $410.00 $820.00 $325.00 $650.00

Mounting Brackets – Peerless ST650 

SmartMount or equal. Holds 39”-75” 

displays, tilt angle,   distance from wall to 

back of flat panel – 2.6”, non-model specific, 

black powder coat finish, load capacity – 

175lbs

15 $62.65 $939.75 $69.00 $1,035.00 $45.99 $689.85

Mobile TV Carts - Balt Platinum Plasma 

Television Cart Stand 27544. Holds up to 

50”/100lbs. Tilts up to 37 degrees. 

Includes AV shelf. 

1 $363.33 $363.33 $359.00 $359.00 $299.99 $299.99

Total Bid Price $18,087.62 $17,516.00 $18,439.84

Delivery

Terms Net 30 Net 30

10-14 ARO

CDW Government, LLC
Howard Technology 

Solutions

PCMG, Inc. DBA Global 

GovEd

Net 30

2-12 business days



Vendor/Info

Qty Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price

70” Televisions – Vizio 70” - D70-D3 LED 

Smart TV or equal. Wi-Fi connectivity, HDMI.
14 $1,098.78 $15,382.92 $1,104.70 $15,465.80 $1,180.00 $16,520.00 $1,121.40 $15,699.60

43” Televisions – Sharp 43” - LC43LB371U 

LED Smart TV or equal. LED 1080p display, 

remote control, built-in Wi-Fi, HDMI.

2 $1,065.41 $2,130.82 $315.84 $631.68 $380.60 $761.20 $413.89 $827.78

Mounting Brackets – Peerless ST650 

SmartMount or equal. Holds 39”-75” 

displays, tilt angle,   distance from wall to 

back of flat panel – 2.6”, non-model specific, 

black powder coat finish, load capacity – 

175lbs

15 $79.61 $1,194.15 $65.49 $982.35 $28.90 $433.50 $28.77 $431.55

Mobile TV Carts - Balt Platinum Plasma 

Television Cart Stand 27544. Holds up to 

50”/100lbs. Tilts up to 37 degrees. 

Includes AV shelf. 

1 $356.76 $356.76 $399.33 $399.33 $446.80 $446.80 $387.60 $387.60

Total Bid Price $19,064.65 $17,479.16 $18,161.50 $17,346.53

Delivery
7-10 business days

Terms Net 30

Request For Bids:

Newspaper Ad: Did not meet specs on mounts

Vendor Notification: (One No Bid)

Vendor Response:

Budgeted:

Low bid - meets specs

Net 30 Net 30 Net 30

Technology Express
Unistar-Sparco 

Computers, Inc.

Valiant National AV 

Supply
Y and S Technologies

3-4 business days, 2 

weeks for cart
7-10 ARO 30 days

Bond

10/25/2016

250

7



No. 1216-6 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BID OF DANNATEK, INC., FOR MOLDED 
CASE POE ANALOG CLOCKS BEGINNING DECEMBER 8, 2016 THROUGH DECEMBER 7, 
2017, WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR ONE (1) ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR TERM, FOR 
THE HAMILTON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for one 

(1) year, with the option to renew for one (1) additional one (1) year term, for molded 
case POE analog clocks for the Hamilton County Department of Education; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the unit price bid from Dannatek, Inc., was considered to be the lowest and best bid 

received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the unit price bid of Dannatek, Inc., for the period beginning December 8, 2016 through December 
7, 2017, with the option to renew for one (1) additional one (1) year term, for the Hamilton County 
Department of Education is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
SPECIFICATIONS 

 
Hamilton County Government is accepting sealed bids for one (1) year contract unit pricing on 
Molded Case POE Analog Clocks. The contract period will be from December 8, 2016 to 
December 7, 2017, with the mutually agreeable option to renew for one (1) additional year. All 
prices must remain fixed during this contract period. Equipment will be purchased for 
Department of Education projects on multiple purchase orders throughout the term of the 
contract.    

 
I. BID SUBMISSION 

 
The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response 
document in a sealed envelope before 11:00 a.m. (ET) on November 15, 2016, to the Hamilton 
County Purchasing Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the 
following statement “Bid # 1116-058: POE Analog Clocks”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed 
within this envelope/package should also be clearly marked with the same label. 

 
Note:  Important delivery / mailing instructions. 

 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not 
constitute receipt of a bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be 

received in the Purchasing Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1116-058: POE Analog Clocks {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
 
 
II. INSTRUCTIONS TO VENDORS 
 

These bid documents are being issued by the Hamilton County Purchasing Department.  
Inquiries regarding the technical specifications of this bid should be directed to Department of 
Education, David McNish at 209-8723 or by FAX at 423-209-8708.   
 
Questions regarding bid procedures should be directed to Janie Burley, Purchasing Department, 
at BidQuestions@HamiltonTN.gov or at 423-209-6350.   
 
Office hours are 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. ET, Monday through Friday. Vendors and manufacturer 
representatives should not contact other Hamilton County employees regarding this bid. 
 



Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

Sealed bids will be accepted before November 15, 2016 at 11:00 a.m. at which time they will be 
publicly opened. Bids received after that time will be deemed to be late and will not be accepted 
or opened. The clock-in time will be determined by a clock maintained by the Hamilton County 
Purchasing Department. No other clock or timepiece will have any bearing on the time of bid 
receipt.  Vendors mailing their bid packages must allow sufficient time to insure receipt of their 
package by the time specified.  There will be no exceptions. 

 
Hamilton County reserves the right to award sections of the total package to different vendors 
or entire package to the vendor deemed to have submitted the best overall bid package.  
Hamilton County reserves the right to waive any irregularities or reject any or all bids. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: The attached Certificate of Compliance and Authorization to Bind forms must be 
signed and submitted as a part of your bid submission package. 

 
III. QUANTITIES 
 

The materials being bid will be installed for various projects in Hamilton County during the term 
of the contract.  The quantities listed for each item are estimated based on defined projects at 
the time this bid is being released. Additional projects may increase the quantities needed 
throughout the contract period. Hamilton County reserves the right to adjust the quantities of 
specific items based on the unit prices at any time during the period from December 8, 2016 
through December 7, 2017.   
 
Minimum order quantities must be included as part of the bid package. Hamilton County will 
not adjust order quantities to qualify vendor for reduced shipping cost. 

 
IV. SHIPPING 
 

All material must be shipped prepaid by the vendor to the designated Hamilton County 
Department of Education facility for storage and/or distribution. All shipping and freight charges 
are the responsibility of the vendor and shall not be added to invoices sent to Hamilton County 
for payment. 
 

V. GUARANTEED DELIVERY 
 

Hamilton County will place multiple orders for various items based on the needs and schedule of 
a particular projects. Vendors will be given a ten (10) day period from the award of the bid 
before delivery of the first order of materials.  

 
Vendors who cannot guarantee this delivery schedule must submit a written exception to this 
section with an optional delivery schedule. Failure to meet guaranteed delivery schedules may 
result in cancellation of this contract and the remainder of the materials ordered will go to the 
vendor submitting the second best bid. 
 
Vendors must furnish Hamilton County with an emergency contact name and number if 
materials are required after hours in order to meet construction deadlines. 
 
 



Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 
VI. WARRANTY 
 

The manufacturer must provide a warranty on all equipment for a minimum of one year from 
time of delivery. Vendors offering extended warranty periods may be given additional 
consideration during the evaluation of the bids. Vendor submitting the bid is responsible for 
listing all exceptions or conditions from any manufacturer regarding the warranty of any product 
listed in this bid.  Failure to identify any sub sequential limitations or special conditions will be 
reason to reject a bid or cancel the contract after the bid is awarded. Hamilton County will hold 
the successful vendor responsible for the replacement of any defective equipment for the one-
year period following the delivery of the equipment at no cost to the County. 
   
 

VII. PAYMENT 
 
 Hamilton County expects to place multiple orders based on the pricing included in the accepted 

bid package. Only the specific amounts ordered and received, per purchase order, should be 
invoiced by the vendor.  Payment will be made upon receipt of the invoice for each individual 
order.  

 
VIII. SUBSTITUTION AND TECHNOLOGY REFRESHMENT 

 
If at any time during the life of this agreement, the original manufacturer of the equipment 
(includes software, hardware and firmware) schedules the products for discontinuation, 
improvement and/or replacement, the agreement holder shall provide a proposal to include the 
new or revised products on this agreement. Proposed prices for new or revised products shall 
be constructed for most favored prices. Proposals shall be submitted to the Contracting 
Officer within seven (7) days of the agreement holder’s awareness of the OEM’s intent. 
Improvement of product includes new releases, updates, upgrades including additional   
features/functionality, and successor or upgrade products.   
 

 
IX. EQUIPMENT SPECIFICATIONS 

 
This will be a plug and play solution clock.  

 POE for Ethernet patch cable to provide power and signal synchronization signals.  

 Must support daylight savings time, any time zone, SNTP server, static IP or DHCP 

 No master clock desired 

 No licensing fees associated with clocks 

 Low profile, impact resistant, molded black frame. Shatter proof, no glare lens required 

 Face of the clock will be an easy to read, educational facility type , 12 hour dial with 
seconds included 

 Classroom clocks will be 12-13” single face and surface mount, and 15-16” single face, 
surface mount 

 Hallway clocks will be 12-13” dual face , wall mounts 
 
 



Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 
Hamilton County reserves the right to select a specific brand of each specified item in order to 
standardize the equipment used during this contract period. It is the responsibility of the bidder 
to verify part numbers and descriptions of specified items.  
 
***PLEASE INCLUDE PRODUCT BROCHURES WITH YOUR BID. 
 
 
 
After evaluation of all sections of this bid document, the unit pricing, including warranty, 
shipping, and the general bid requirements, will be used in determining the best overall bid 
package.   
 
In order to receive the best price available for the specified items, estimated quantities have 
been provided.  Hamilton County feels that these estimated quantities are reasonable based on 
the various projects scheduled within the specified time frame.   However, quantities are not 
guaranteed and may increase or decrease during the term of the contract.   If an estimated 
quantity is not listed, the quantity may be insignificant and an individual unit price will be 
sufficient. 
 
The attached worksheet may be used to submit unit pricing or vendors are free to submit their 
bid on an alternate worksheet.  ALL BIDS MUST BE CLEARLY LEGIBLE AND BASED ON THE UNIT 
SIZE/AMOUNT INDICATED.  Failure to provide an easy to interpret bid will be reason to 
disqualify the bid package. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 
 
BID PRICING FORM 
 
 

Quantity Part Number Description Price (each) 

25  12-13" surface mount POE analog clock SINGLE FACE  

    

25  12-13" wall mount POE analog clock DUAL FACE  

    

10  15-16" surface mount POE analog clock SINGLE FACE  

 
*Please include product brochure 
*Bidder is responsible to put correct part number/description 
*Please price as each, NOT estimated quantity pricing 
 
 
 
The attached pricing information for POE Analog Clocks is submitted by: 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
Signature     Company Name 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
Title      Company Address 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
Business License Number   Date Submitted 



Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make 
certification and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance 
with all provisions of this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by 
the federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by 
the federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the 
list created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, 
without collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or 
official of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting 
as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder 
in connection with the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

Date:     ________________________________________  
 
 
 
 

 



Bid # 1116-058:  Molded Case POE Analog Clocks 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 
AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 

   
By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this 
document is true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT 
tainted by any collusion.  I certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the 
release of this proposal for Hamilton County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind 
my company to the responses and pricing in these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent 
negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Date 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Bid # 1116-058: Molded Case POE Alanlog Clocks

Hamilton County, TN 

November 15, 2016

Board of Education

Quantity
Dannatek 

Inc.

Globe Electric 

Supply Company

International 

Equipment 

Company, Inc.

Gallaher & 

Associates, Inc.

25 12-13" surface mount POE analog clock SINGLE FACE $149.96 $162.00 ; (Min order 5) $164.95 $211.83

25 12-13" wall mount POE analog clock DUAL FACE $329.96 $367.00 ; (Min order 5) $389.95 $476.68

10 15-16" surface mount POE analog clock SINGLE FACE $166.96 $180.40 ; (Min order 2) $184.95 $235.37

Delivery Net 15-Net 10 10 per release Shipping $680.00 10 business days

Terms Net 15-Net 10 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30

Request For Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 11/4/2016 Low bid - meets specs

Vendor Notification: 739

Vendor Response: 4

Budgeted:           Bond

DESCRIPTION



No. 1216-7 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPERTY INSURANCE RENEWAL PROPOSAL FROM 
AFFILIATED FM INSURANCE THROUGH HAMILTON COUNTY’S BROKER/CONSULTANT, AON 
RISK SERVICES SOUTH, INC., FOR THE COUNTY’S RISK MANAGEMENT OFFICE, AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 
THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, Hamilton County Government has property and vehicles/equipment values in excess of $433 

Million Dollars and desires to maintain insurance coverage to protect these assets against 
unforeseen insurable losses; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Aon Risk Services South, Inc., was selected to provide broker & consultant services to obtain 

renewal and coverage placements, (Resolution 1016-20); and, 
 
WHEREAS Aon Risk Services South, Inc., has obtained a renewal quote from the current/expiring 

insurance carrier, Affiliated FM, at a  guaranteed rate of $.0508 per $100 of insured value for a 
two-year period for an estimated annual premium of $229,815.00; and, 

 
WHEREAS Hamilton County Government has been pleased with the coverage  and loss control services 

provided by Affiliated FM over the past five years; and 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through the 

operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning department from 
bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the property insurance renewal proposal from Affiliated FM Insurance, for the County’s Risk Management 
Office is hereby accepted, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1216-8 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE RIVER 
VIEW HOUSING ASSOCIATES,  L.P., PROJECT TO PROVIDE LOW-TO-
MODERATE INCOME ELDERLY HOUSING THROUGH THE ACQUISITION AND 
RENOVATION OF THE JAYCEE TOWER, TO DELEGATE CERTAIN 
AUTHORITY TO THE CHATTANOOGA HOUSING AUTHORITY, AND TO 
AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES. 
 
WHEREAS,   River View Housing Associates, L.P. (the "Company") is 

contemplating the acquisition of the Jaycee Tower, located at 
500 W. Martin Luther King Boulevard, Chattanooga, Hamilton 
County, Tennessee, and the renovation, equipping, and 
furnishing of a multifamily, low-to-moderate income elderly 
tenants housing unit (the “Facility”); and,  

 
WHEREAS,    the Chattanooga Housing Authority (the “Authority”) has agreed 

to take title to said real and personal property that constitutes the 
Facility, which Facility will be owned by the Authority and 
leased to the Company; and  

 
WHEREAS,  because of the substantial economic benefits to the City of 

Chattanooga and the County resulting from the project, the 
Company and the Authority have asked the Board of 
Commissioners of the County (the "Commission") and the City 
of Chattanooga (the “City”) to approve payments in lieu of ad 
valorem taxes and to make a finding that such payments are in 
furtherance of the Authority's public purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS,   the Commission has determined that payments in lieu of ad 

valorem taxes from such a project would be in furtherance of the 
public purposes of the Authority as set forth within Chapter 20 



 

 

of Title 13 of the Tennessee Code Annotated. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  
 

That we do hereby find that the River View Housing Associates, L.P., project  
referenced above is in the best interest of the County, and that payments in lieu 
of  ad valorem taxes derived therefrom would be in furtherance of the public 
purposes of the Authority; and that the Authority is hereby delegated with the 
authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from the 
Company, it being further noted that this delegation is for this purpose and this 
project only; and that the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into an 
Agreement for Payments In Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes substantially in the 
form attached hereto, with such changes thereto as he shall approve. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



 
 

1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the ___ day of ________________, 

2016, by and among the CHATTANOOGA HOUSING AUTHORITY (the “Authority”); 

RIVER VIEW HOUSING ASSOCIATES, LP, a Tennessee limited partnership (the 

“Company”); the CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE (the “City”); and HAMILTON 

COUNTY, TENNESSEE  (the “County”) and is joined in, for purposes of evidencing their 

acceptance of the agency relationship established herein, by WILLIAM F. HULLANDER and 

his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE (“Trustee”), and by 

MARTY HAYNES and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY 

ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (“Assessor”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company is contemplating the acquisition and renovation of the Jaycee 

Tower located at 500 W. Martin Luther King Boulevard, Chattanooga, Tennessee, for use as a 

multifamily housing facility for low-to-moderate income elderly tenants, as further described 

in Section 5 below (the “Project”) and has requested the Authority’s assistance in the financing 

of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, substantial public welfare benefits to the City and County will be derived 

from the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has agreed to take title to certain real and personal property 

that constitutes the Project, as described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (the “Property”), which 

Property is to be owned by the Authority and leased to the Company; and 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Authority, which is a public 

body and a body corporate and politic organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code 



 
 

2 
 

Annotated, §13-20-102, et seq. (the "Tennessee Housing Authorities Act"), all such property will 

be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“property taxes”) normally paid to the City and to the 

County, so long as the Property is owned by the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the 

Authority has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Authority in lieu of the 

payment of property taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Authority in lieu of 

the property taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more 

particularly set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in lieu of 

property taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their duly 

elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Authority the 

authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority wishes to designate the County Assessor as its agent to 

appraise the Property and assess a percentage of its value in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Authority wishes to designate the Trustee and the City Trustee, as 

applicable, as its agent to receive the In Lieu Payments in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants and 

agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Authority 

hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor 

shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State 



 
 

3 
 

of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes.  The Assessor shall give the 

Trustee, the City Treasurer, the Authority, and the Company written notice of any changes in 

appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable 

property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Authority and the Company all records 

relating to the appraisal and assessment of the Property. 

2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  

The Authority hereby designates the Trustee as its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu 

Payments.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this agreement, the Trustee 

shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if it were subject to property 

taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and in accordance 

with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year hereunder, the Trustee shall send 

the Authority and the Company a bill for appropriate amounts of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax 

Bill”). 

3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay 

to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill in accordance with the amount set forth 

below in Section 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property 

taxes which would otherwise be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes.   

4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the eleven (11) year period covering 

and inclusive of years 2017 through 2027 (the "Tax Abatement Period"), the Company shall 

make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Property in an amount equal to $51,000 per year.  The 

entire amount of each In Lieu Payment due during the Tax Abatement Period shall be paid by the 

Trustee into the County School Fund and dedicated to the support of the County School System.  

The Tax Abatement Period shall automatically renew for three additional terms of ten (10) years 



 
 

4 
 

each, unless the City or the County has given written notice of nonrenewal to the Company as a 

result of an Event of Default by the Company under this Agreement.  The amount of the In Lieu 

Payments due during each renewal term shall increase by fifteen percent (15%) at the beginning 

of each renewal term, so that the amount of the In Lieu Payments due during (i) the first renewal 

term shall be $58,650, (ii) the second renewal term shall be $67,447.50, and (ii) the third renewal 

term shall be $77,564.63.  An "Event of Default" shall mean the failure by the Company to 

comply with its obligations under Section 5 with respect to the Project; provided, however, that 

any such failure shall not become an Event of Default unless such failure continues for a period 

of more than one hundred eighty (180) days following receipt by the Company of written notice 

from the City or the County specifying such failure in reasonable detail. 

For any periods before or after the Tax Abatement Period (as it may be renewed in 

accordance with this Agreement) during which the Property is owned by the Authority, the 

Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor and the 

Trustee, equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been 

payable to the City and the County on the Property if it were subject to property taxes. 

5. Covenants by the Company Regarding the Project.  The Company covenants as 

follows: 

(a) The Project will be completed within twenty-four (24) months following 

the date of this Agreement.  During the construction period, the Company will 

temporarily relocate all residents of the Jaycee Tower to other units within the Jaycee 

Tower at no expense to those residents.  

(b) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period (as 

it may be renewed from time to time in accordance with this Agreement),  100% of the 



 
 

5 
 

dwelling units in the Project will be set aside for occupancy by individuals whose income 

is not greater than 80% of the area median income as annually defined in the most recent 

guidelines published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development, with at 

least 80% of the dwelling units in the Project being set aside for occupancy by 

individuals whose income is not greater than 60% of the area median income as annually 

defined in the most recent guidelines published by the Department of Housing and Urban 

Development. 

(c) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period (as 

it may be renewed from time to time in accordance with this Agreement), 100% of the 

dwelling units in the Project shall be set for occupancy by individuals who are elderly or 

who otherwise meet the criteria for occupancy at the Project established or approved 

from time to time by the Department of Housing and Urban Development or the 

Tennessee Housing Development Agency.  For purposes of this Agreement, the term 

"elderly" shall mean individuals who are 55 years of age or older and/or who have 

received approval by the Department of Housing and Urban Development or the 

Tennessee Housing Development Agency for residency at the Project.  Additionally, the 

Company shall maintain a Resident Services Coordinator for the Project. 

(d) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period (as 

it may be renewed from time to time in accordance with this Agreement), the Project 

shall be maintained in good and habitable condition in compliance with all applicable 

City and County ordinances and codes and in accordance with the attached plans for 

renovation of the Jaycee Tower that were presented to the City Council on October 18, 

2016 or as otherwise approved by the City Chief Building Official. 



 
 

6 
 

6. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for 

each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments to the City and County 

shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 

(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, then a late 

charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be 

in the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each month that 

each payment has been unpaid.  Such one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month late charge 

amount shall accumulate each month and be payable so long as there remains any outstanding 

unpaid amount. 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as 

provided hereinabove, then the Authority, the City or the County shall have the right bring suit in 

the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late 

charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees, and if the 

Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove for more 

than two (2) years, the City or the County shall have the right, as to their respective In Lieu 

Payments, to terminate the benefits of this Agreement and thereafter require the Company to pay 

one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of taxes that would have been payable on the 

Property for so long as such payment default continues as determined by the Mayor of the City 

and the Mayor of the County.  In the event of a disagreement between the parties concerning 

whether or not the Company has cured a default, a representative of the Company may request 

that the City and County, as applicable, each meet to determine whether such default has been 

cured, and the Company and the City or the County, as the case may be, shall meet promptly 

thereafter attempt in good faith to resolve such dispute.  The Company may, in addition, file suit 



 
 

7 
 

in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the provisions of this Agreement be 

construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such dispute. 

(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default 

(as defined in Section 4 above), the City and the County shall adjust the terms and conditions of 

the tax abatement granted to the Company under this Agreement for the Tax Abatement Period 

by requiring the Company to pay an additional amount of the In Lieu Payments on the Property; 

provided, however, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default 

(as defined in Section 4 above) resulting from the Company's failure to comply with Section 5(b) 

or (c) above, the additional amount of In Lieu Payments to be made by the Company shall be 

determined by multiplying the In Lieu Payments on the Property owed pursuant to Section 4 

during the period of the continuance of such Event of Default by a fraction (expressed as a 

percentage), the denominator of which is the number of dwelling units at the Project subject to 

the requirements of Sections 5(b) and (c) and the numerator of which is the number of dwelling 

units that do not meet the requirements of Sections 5(b) and (c).  The County and the City shall 

look solely to the Company for any repayment obligations. 

7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the Trustee 

pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the County school system shall be disbursed to the 

County and thereafter deposited into an account for the educational use and benefit of the County 

schools.  All sums received by the Treasurer pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the City 

general fund shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City in accordance with this paragraph 

and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying over 

of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Section 4 

for the benefit of the County general fund shall be disbursed to the general fund of the County in 



 
 

8 
 

accordance with this paragraph and in accordance with the normal requirements of law 

governing the settlement and paying over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All such sums 

received by the Treasurer shall be placed into an account for the use and benefit of the City. All 

such sums received by the Trustee shall be divided into an account for the use and benefit of the 

County. The account for the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate 

amount to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which would otherwise 

be owed to the City, and the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with 

the proportionate amount to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to property taxes which 

would otherwise be owed to the County. The parties acknowledge and agree that all 

disbursements to the City and County pursuant to this Agreement are in furtherance of the 

Authority’s public purposes as set forth in the Tennessee Housing Authorities Act. 

8. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the 

appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of 

the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, 

then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  Likewise, if the Company 

contests any such computation, it shall present evidence to the Trustee in favor of its position.  If 

the In Lieu Payments being contested shall be or become due and payable, the Company shall 

make such payments under protest. The Company and the Assessor or the Trustee, as the case 

may be, shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or 

computation.  If the Company and the Assessor or the Trustee are unable to resolve a dispute, 

then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the 

provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, 



 
 

9 
 

be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such 

dispute. 

9. Annual Report.  The Company will provide, on or before February 15 of each 

calendar year during this Agreement following the date the Project is placed in service, (i) a copy 

of the Owner's Annual Certification of Compliance that the Company has provided to the 

Tennessee Housing Development Agency for the prior calendar year, and (ii) a certification of 

the Company as to the Company's compliance with the covenants set forth in Section 5.  An 

independent audit of these certifications may occur if requested by the City or the County during 

any calendar year of this Agreement. 

10. Lien on Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement 

shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the 

event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance with this Agreement. 

11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Authority 

attains title to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Authority holds title to any of the 

Property or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

12. Leasehold Taxation.  If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to 

ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In 

Lieu Payments due hereunder.  The Company agrees to cooperate fully with the Assessor in 

supplying information for completion of leasehold taxation questionnaires with respect to the 

Property. 

13. Stormwater Fees.  In addition to other requirements under this Agreement, the 

Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City of Chattanooga 

against the Real Property. 



 
 

10 
 

14. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall 

be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile 

transmission or delivered, if to the City, c/o Mr. Phillip A. Noblett, Suite 200, 100 E. 11th Street, 

Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; if to the County, c/o Mr. Rheubin M. Taylor, County Attorney, 

Hamilton County Government, Room 204, County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 

37402-1956; if to the Authority, c/o 

______________________________________________________; if to the Company, 

c/o______________________________________________________; if to the Trustee, at his 

address at Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; and if to the Assessor, 

at his address at Hamilton County Courthouse, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402; or, as to each 

party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other 

party.  All such notices and communications shall, when sent by U.S. certified mail, return 

receipt requested, shall be effective three days after sending, or when sent by overnight courier 

or personal delivery, shall be effective upon delivery, or when sent by facsimile transmission, 

confirmed electronically, shall be effective when sent, in each case addressed as aforesaid. 

15. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in 

exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single 

or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise 

thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 

cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

16. Assignment.  Except in the event of the conveyance of the Property as a result of 

a foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure or except as otherwise provided in this Section, the 

Company may only assign this Agreement, or any part hereof, with the prior consent of the 



 
 

11 
 

Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County, and the Authority.  The Mayor of the City, the 

Mayor of the County and/or the Authority shall not withhold such consent upon the occurrence 

of all of the following conditions: (i) there is no Event of Default under this Agreement at the 

time of the assignment, (ii) all requirements of the Company under this Agreement have been 

satisfied as of the date of the assignment, and (iii) any assignee agrees to provide proof of 

sufficient assets to fund the business plan for the Project and agrees to be bound by the terms of 

this Agreement from and after the date of assignment (the “Consent Requirements”).  If the 

Company provides the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Authority (x) a 

certificate of an officer of the Company certifying that the requirements of (i) and (ii) have been 

satisfied and (y) proof of sufficient assets to fund the business plan for the Project and a copy of 

an assignment and assumption agreement pursuant to which the assignee agrees to be bound by 

the terms of this Agreement, the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Authority 

shall each have the option, upon at least seven (7) days’ prior notice to the Company, to meet 

with a representative of the Company within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the Company’s 

certificate for purposes of determining whether the Company has satisfied the Consent 

Requirements.  Unless the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Authority meet 

with the Company and all state in writing within such forty-five (45) day period that the 

Company has not satisfied the Consent Requirements, the Company may assign this Agreement 

in accordance with the terms and conditions described in the Company’s certificate without any 

further action of the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and/or the Authority.  In the 

event that the Mayor of the City, the Mayor of the County and the Authority timely state in 

writing that the Company has not satisfied the Consent Requirements, the Company and the 

assignee may, upon the Company’s request, appear before the City Council of the City, the 



 
 

12 
 

Authority of Commissioners of the County and the Authority to request approval of such 

assignment pursuant to the terms of this Section, which consents shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  Upon satisfaction of the requirements of this Section, the assignment shall relieve the 

Company from liability for any of its obligations hereunder as of the effective date of the 

assignment. 

17. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be 

held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall 

not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

18. No Liability of Authority’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, 

covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, 

member, director or officer, as such, of the Authority, whether past, present or future, either 

directly or through the Authority.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at 

common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, 

member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of 

and consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

19. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 

each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns. 

20. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

21. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each 

of the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in 

amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 
 

13 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 

and date first above written. 

 

ATTEST: 

By:       
 Secretary 

THE CHATTANOOGA HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 
By:        
 Chairman 
 
 
RIVER VIEW HOUSING ASSOCIATES, LP 
 
By: Hightower Realty, LLC, its general partner 
 
By: ________________________________ 
Title:        
 
 
CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 Mayor 
 
 
HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
By:        
 County Mayor 
 
 
WILLIAM F. HULLANDER 
 
By:        
 Hamilton County Trustee 
 
 
MARTY HAYNES 
 
By:        
 Hamilton County Assessor of 
 Property 
 

  



 
 

14 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
TO AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

 
REAL PROPERTY 

 
[INSERT LEGAL DESCRIPTION] 

 
 

PERSONAL PROPERTY 
 
All personal property used by the Company in connection with its housing facility located on the 
real property described above. 



No. 1216-9 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE HAMILTON COUNTY PURCHASING RULES PROVIDING 
AN INCREASE IN THE COMPETITIVE BID AND PROPOSAL THRESHOLDS AND 
ASSOCIATED APPROVAL AUTHORITY, EXPANDING ALLOWABLE COOPERATIVE 
PURCHASING SOURCES, AND UPDATING OTHER PROCUREMENT LANGUAGE AS PER 
THE 2016 EDITION OF THE PROCUREMENT RULES. 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Purchasing Rules were last updated in 2009 and the dollar 

thresholds for bids and proposals were last updated in 1999; and  
 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated § 12-3-1212 authorizes the County Commission to, by 

resolution, increase the threshold over which public advertisement and sealed 
competitive bids or proposals are required to an amount up to $25,000 for non-
emergency, non-proprietary purchases in counties having centralized purchasing and 
a full-time purchasing agent; and 

 
WHEREAS,  Hamilton County has centralized purchasing and a full-time purchasing agent; and  
 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated § 12-3-1205 allows county governments to participate 

in, sponsor, conduct or administer cooperative purchasing agreements for the 
procurement of any supplies, services or construction with one (1) or more other 
local governments within the State of Tennessee; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Code Section authorizes the County Commission to participate in, sponsor, 

conduct or administer a cooperative purchasing agreement for the procurement of 
any goods, supplies, services, or equipment with one (1) or more other governmental 
entities outside this state; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Code Section authorizes the County Commission to authorize Hamilton County 

to participate in a master agreement by adopting a resolution accepting the terms of 
the master agreement of a cooperative purchasing agreement for the procurement of 
any goods, supplies, services, or equipment with one (1) or more other governmental 
entities outside this state; and 

 
WHEREAS, additional best practice language available from the National Institute of Purchasing 



 

 

(NIGP) has been incorporated as a part of the update; and 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution 1093-60, relative to purchase of vehicles from the TN Statewide contract, 

shall be rescinded as a standalone Resolution as it has been incorporated directly into 
the Purchasing Rules; and 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 286-11, relative to “Specifications Conference”, is no longer utilized in 

the purchasing process and shall be rescinded as a standalone Resolution; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the county legislative body of Hamilton County has determined that the cost and 

time savings associated with such an increase of the bidding and authority threshold, 
expanding the cooperative purchasing practices, and adopting the other best practices 
herein included are in the best interest of the County. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the 2016 Hamilton County Procurement Rules are adopted and include the following additions: 
(1) Pursuant to the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated § 12-3-1212, the threshold over which 
public advertisement and sealed competitive bids or proposals are required is increased to $25,000 for 
nonemergency, nonproprietary purchases; (2) Pursuant to the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated  
§ 12-3-1212, at least three written quotations shall be obtained, whenever possible, for purchases 
costing less than $25,000 but greater than $2,500; (3) Pursuant to the provisions of Tennessee Code 
Annotated § 12-3-1205, cooperative purchasing agreements are approved as a method of procurement; 
(4) Other best practices from the NIGP are incorporated; and (5) that Resolutions 1093-60 and 286-11 
are hereby rescinded. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1216-10 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE INITIAL LIST OF COOPERATIVE  PURCHASING 
CONTRACTS IN WHICH HAMILTON COUNTY MAY PARTICIPATE SUBJECT TO SECTION 
3.6 OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY PROCUREMENT RULES. 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Procurement Rules have been updated to allow Hamilton 

County  to participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer cooperative purchasing 
agreements for the procurement of any goods, supplies,  services, or equipment both 
inside and outside the State of Tennessee (Resolution 1216-9); and  

 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated § 12-3-1205 authorizes the County Commission to 

approve Hamilton County to participate in a master agreement by adopting a 
resolution accepting the terms of the master agreement of a cooperative purchasing 
agreement for the procurement of any goods, supplies, services, or equipment with 
one (1) or more other governmental entities outside this state; and 

 
WHEREAS, U.S. Communities, TCPN/IPA, NJPA, NCPA, NASPO ValuePoint, and BuyBoard 

are recommend for the initial list of cooperatives to be approved for use by the 
County; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Purchasing Department will maintain a master list of cooperative contracts as 

approved for use by the Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS,  Purchasing will continue to evaluate and have final approval of any purchases from 

said cooperative contracts; and 
 
WHEREAS,  expanding the cooperative purchasing options by participation in these cooperatives 

is in the best interest of the County. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the Board of County Commissioners hereby authorizes the initial list of cooperatives to be 
approved for use by the County to include U.S. Communities, TCPN/IPA, NJPA, NCPA, NASPO 



 

 

ValuePoint, and BuyBoard is in the best interest of the County pursuant to Section 3.6 of the 
Procurement Rules for Hamilton County. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1216-11A 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                        (P.C. NO. 2016-151) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
TO LIFT & AMEND CONDITIONS OF RESOLUTION 1114-25C OF 

PREVIOUS CASE NO. 2014-119 FROM PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
1650 & 1724 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD & 9716 EAST 

BRAINERD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & 
Amend Conditions of Resolution 1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 
1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, and said Planning Commission after 
hearing recommended that this petition be denied amending conditions only; and approve rezoning the 
PUD portion to R-1 Single-Family Residential District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & Amend Conditions of Resolution 1114-25C of Previous Case No. 
2014-119 from properties located at 1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, .  
Three unplatted tracts of land located at 1650 and 1724 Ooltewah Ringgold Road and 9716 East 
Brainerd Road being the properties described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 71, 73, and 77, ROHC.  Tax 
Map 172-056, 056.01 and 064 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















No. 1216-11B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                (P.C. NO. 2016-151) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
TO LIFT & AMEND CONDITIONS OF RESOLUTION 1114-25C OF 

PREVIOUS CASE NO. 2014-119 FROM PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
1650 & 1724 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD & 9716 EAST 

BRAINERD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & 
Amend Conditions of Resolution 1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 
1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, and said Planning Commission after 
hearing recommended that this petition be denied amending conditions only; approve rezoning the 
PUD portion to R-1 Single-Family Residential District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be denied amending 
conditions only; approve rezoning the PUD portion to R-1 Single-Family Residential District and 
amend the conditions for the remaining C-2 Local Business Commercial District as follows: 
1. Concrete sidewalks, minimum width of 5 feet, shall be placed along the interior edge of the 

landscaped buffer along Ooltewah Ringgold Road and East Brainerd Road, Sidewalks shall be 

outside the right of way. 

2. Concrete sidewalks, minimum width of 5 feet, shall be placed along all interior and private 

streets and drives. 

3. Dumpsters serving the site shall be located behind buildings and screened on all four sides with 

landscaping and/or fencing. Dumpsters serving the out parcels shall be located at least 25-feet 



 

 

from the right-of-ways of East Brainerd Road and Ooltewah Ringgold Road, and shall be 

screened as per the landscape regulations. 

4. Existing natural vegetation and trees shall be preserved and protected for a distance of 80 feet 

from the south boundary. Retention pond(s) are also permitted within this area. 

5. All improvements on East Brainerd Road will require approval from the Hamilton County 

Engineering Department. Improvements include: a. Right of Way in the amount of 40 feet 

from the centerline shall be dedicated to Hamilton County Government. b. The existing 

drainage ditch line shall be relocated as required to the south to allow a minimum 4 foot paved 

shoulder.  The drainage ditch may be piped along the along the shoulder or in the areas 

adjacent to driveways to allow for additional backfilled areas. c. An eastbound right turn lane 

(minimum 100') and westbound left turn lane {minimum 100') into the proposed development 

will be required during construction of phase one. 

6. All proposed or required improvements on Ooltewah Ringgold Road, State Route 321, are 

subject to approval by the Tennessee Department of Transportation (TDOT).  If acceptable to 

TDOT, the middle entrance to the development (south entrance of phase one) and the traffic 

signal, if warranted, will be required during construction of phase one. 

7. All exterior pole lighting shall be a maximum of 30 feet in height. 

8. Off premises (bill boards) and neon signs shall be prohibited. 

9. Storage, car lots, wrecker service, double-wide or manufactured homes, night clubs, adult-

oriented business, tattoo parlors, check cashing, pawn, apartments, free standing residential 

condos, multifamily, temporary structures, and commercial dairies are prohibited uses. 

10. The development shall not exceed 210,000 total square feet; 150,000 square feet maximum 

building size, or 35 feet and/or 2 stories in height.  

Of properties located at 1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, three 

unplatted tracts of land located at 1650 and 1724 Ooltewah Ringgold Road and 9716 East Brainerd 

Road being the properties described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 71, 73, and 77, ROHC.  Tax Map 172-

056, 056.01 and 064 as shown on the attached map. 

 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















No. 1216-12A 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                    (P.C. NO. 2016-152) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1650 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a 
Residential Planned Unit Development for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said 
Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for property located at 1650 
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road. Part of an unplatted tract of land located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road 
beginning at its northeast corner, thence southwest some 397 feet, thence some 225 southeast to a point, 
thence some 1276 feet along the east property line to its southeast corner, thence some 450 feet northwest 
along its south line to a point, thence northeast some 1261 feet to a point, thence northeast some 84 feet 
to a point, thence northwest some 445 feet to a point in the north line of said property, thence southeast 
some 477 feet to the northeast corner of said property, the point of beginning as shown on the 9/21/16 
revised site by MAP Engineering, project #16-171 submitted to the case file.  Being part of the property 
described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 73 ROHC.  Tax Map 172-056 (part) as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 1216-12B 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2016-152) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 1650 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit 
Development for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing 
recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County 
that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a Special Exceptions 
Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development,  subject to:  (1) Black coated chain link fence along eastern 
property line; (2) Twenty  foot (20’) Type B landscape buffer along eastern and western property lines; (3) Single-
family dwellings only; and (4) Road improvements to be approved by Hamilton County Engineering Department 
prior to going to County Commission meeting, for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road. Part of an 
unplatted tract of land located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road beginning at its northeast corner, thence 
southwest some 397 feet, thence some 225 southeast to a point, thence some 1276 feet along the east property line to 
its southeast corner, thence some 450 feet northwest along its south line to a point, thence northeast some 1261 feet 
to a point, thence northeast some 84 feet to a point, thence northwest some 445 feet to a point in the north line of 
said property, thence southeast some 477 feet to the northeast corner of said property, the point of beginning as 
shown on the 9/21/16 revised site by MAP Engineering, project #16-171 submitted to the case file.  Being part of 
the property described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 73 ROHC.  Tax Map 172-056 (part) as shown on the attached 
map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 1216-13 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF THIRTY (30) TASERS AND 
EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING TO $58,224.50 FROM GULF STATES DISTRIBUTORS FOR 
THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quotation was received for Tasers and equipment, including a (4) year 

warranty, amounting to $58,224.50 for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Gulf States Distributors is the sole authorized police distributor for Tennessee 

for this product; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the amount of $58,224.50 is considered economically fair; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from Gulf States Distributors for thirty (30) Tasers and equipment for the 
Sheriff’s Office amounting to $58,224.50 is hereby accepted, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 1216-14 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF ONE HUNDRED AND SEVENTY 
SEVEN (177) SETS OF SECONDARY VEST ARMOR AMOUNTING TO $28,098.75 
FROM BODY ARMOR OUTLET, LLC, FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to a public advertisement for secondary vest 

armor for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Body Armor Outlet, LLC, amounting to $28,098.75 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid from Body Armor Outlet, LLC, for one hundred and seventy seven (177) sets of 
secondary vest armor for the Sheriff’s Office amounting to $28,098.75 is hereby accepted, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

1 
 

 
 

SECONDARY VEST ARMOR BID SPECIFICATIONS 
 

Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for secondary vest AR500 Armor® Urban Go Plate Carrier w/Level III Body 

Armor for the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office (Post Certified Deputies/Detectives and Reserve Deputies not assigned to 

Swat or NSO).  All prices must include shipping/inside delivery to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, located at 6233 

Dayton Blvd., Hixson, Tennessee 37343. 

 

Bid Submission Requirements 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response document in a sealed 

envelope before 11:00 a.m. (ET) on November 8, 2016 to the Hamilton County Purchasing Director at the address 

specified below. The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the following 

statement “BID # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this envelope/package 

should also be clearly marked with the same label. 

 

NOTE:  IMPORTANT DELIVERY/ MAILING INSTRUCTIONS 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a bid by the 

Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing Department by the specified 

deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1016-052:  Secondary Vest Armor {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 

 

MINIMUM LIMITS OF INSURANCE  

The vendor shall provide proof of the following minimum limits of insurance; such coverage to be maintained 

throughout the term of the contract and be no less than: 
 

A. Commercial General Liability: $2,000,000 per occurrence for property damage and bodily injury.  The 

proposer should indicate in its proposal whether the coverage is provided on a claims-made or 

(preferably) on an occurrence basis.  The insurance shall include coverage for the following:  

1. Premise/Operations  
2. Explosion, Collapse and Underground Property Damage Hazard  
3. Products/Completed Operations  
4.  Contractual  
5. Independent Contractors  
6. Broad Form Property Damage  

 7. Personal Injury  



Bid # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

2 
 

 
 

 

Hamilton County Government shall be named as an additional insured on the above required liability insurance policies.  

A signed certificate of insurance shall evidence all policies and coverage shall not be cancelled without a minimum of 

thirty (30) days cancellation notice to the Hamilton County Risk Management Office.  All coverage shall be placed with 

Tennessee admitted insurers rated B+10 or better by A.M. Best’s rating service or as approved by Hamilton County’s Risk 

Manager.   Proof of Insurance must be provided before a contract award is executed with the successful bidder and 

updated as necessary. 

 
For listing purposes as to the additional insured use the following:    

Hamilton County, TN 

C/O Hamilton County Risk Management Office 

317 Oak Street, 2nd Floor 

Chattanooga, TN  37403 

 

 

Contacts 

Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to Captain Lynn Triplett, Hamilton County 
Sheriff’s Office (423)209-8902.  
 
Questions concerning bid specifications should be directed to Janie Burley, Purchasing Department at 
Janieb@Hamiltontn.gov or at 423-209-6350. 

 

Completion of Attached Forms 
Please complete the attached Certificate of Compliance and Authorization to Bind Forms. 
 
 
Attachments 

Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:Janieb@Hamiltontn.gov


Bid # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

3 
 

 

SPECIFICATIONS 

Bid request is for AR500 Armor® Urban Go Plate Carrier w/Level III Body Armor (no substitutions) 
 

Urban Go Plate Carrier Specs: 

Weight: 1.5 lb. (unloaded) 

Size: Fully adjustable shoulder straps and girth, Medium – 3XL  

Colors: Black and Coyote 

 

AR500 Armor® Urban Go Plate Carrier Features: 

 Includes (2) AR500 Armor® Level III 10” x 12” ASC Body Armor Plates (Curved Front &  Flat Back Plates) 

 Fully Adjustable from Medium to 3XL  

 Quick release side buckles allows the carrier to be deployed quickly 

 Quick release shoulder buckles for easy donning and doffing 

 Fully adjustable shoulder straps 

 Padded front and back panel with molded “valley” airway for improved air flow 

 MOLLE based pouches allow for easy removal and reconfiguration 

 Emergency Drag Handle 

 Front and Rear Velcro panels for ID’s and Patches 

 500D Tactical Polyester Blend 

 

Quantity:  177 Sets to include: 

 AR500 Armor® Urban Go Plate Carrier w/ Level III Body Armor 

 (1) Urban Go Plate Carrier (BLACK)  

 (1) AR500 Armor® Level III 10" x 12" ASC Curved Base Coat Plate  

 (1) 10" x 12" ASC Flat Base Coat Plate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Bid # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

4 
 

 
 
Bid Price to include shipping & delivery to Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, 6233 Dayton Blvd., Hixson, TN 37343. 
 
Pricing 
 
Cost per set:  ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Total Bid Price: ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Delivery: ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Terms:   ________________________________________________________________________ 
   
 
 
 
 
Bid Submitted By: 
 
Company Name: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Name:  _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Title:  _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Email:  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

5 
 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 

By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification and assurance, 
under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of this bid/proposal and the following 
items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the federal 
government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list created pursuant to 
T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without collusion, under 
penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of Hamilton 
County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, 
subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with the procurement under this 
RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

Date:     ________________________________________ ___ 
 
 
 
 

 



Bid # 1016-052: Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

6 
 

 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is true and 
correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I certify and 
acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton County’s consideration.  
Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in these proposal/bid documents, and 
any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Date 

 

 

 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Secondary Vest Armor (Re-Bid) Sheriff's Office

November 8, 2016 11:00 AM

Vendor / Info

QTY
Price per 

set

Total Bid 

Price

Price per 

set

Total Bid 

Price

Price per 

set

Total Bid 

Price

Price per 

set

Total Bid 

Price

Price per 

set

Total Bid 

Price

AR500 Armor Urban Go 

Plate Carrier w/Level III 

Body Armor (NO 

SUBSTITUTIONS)

177 $158.75 $28,098.75 $206.21 $36,500.00 $365.00 $64,605.00 $358.00 $63,366.00 $378.00 $66,906.00

Delivery

Terms

Low bid - meets specs

Alternate brand - Point Blank

Request For Bids: Vendor quoted wrong unit price on  bid submission. Quoted $200 instead of $206.21

Newspaper Ad:

Vendor Notification:

Vendor Response: (One No-Bid)

Budgeted:

10/28/2016

296

5

Capital

Body Armor Outlet, 

LLC

Castle Defense Security 

Consulting & 

Protection Services, 

LLC

45 days ARO

Net 30

ETA 30 days, product is 

on back order at 

present

Net 15

EMS Innovations, Inc. 

30-60 days, (Prepay 

and Add)

2% Prepay; 80/20; 

0/30

EMS Innovations, Inc. (Bid two (2) alternate 

brands)

30-60 days

Net 30



No. 1216-15 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF THIRTY ONE (31) SETS OF 
SERIES BALLISTIC PLATES AMOUNTING TO $43,783.16 FROM BOTACH, INC., FOR 
THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to a public advertisement for series ballistic 

plates for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Botach, Inc., amounting to $43,783.16 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid from Botach, Inc., for thirty one (31) sets of series ballistic plates for the Sheriff’s 
Office amounting to $43,783.16 is hereby accepted, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign 
any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

1 
 

 
SERIES BALLISTIC PLATES BID SPECIFICATIONS 

 

Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for DKX M3 (MAX III) Series Ballistic Plates for the Hamilton County Sheriff’s 

Office. All prices must include shipping/inside delivery to the Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, located at 6233 Dayton 

Blvd., Hixson, Tennessee 37343. 

 

Bid Submission Requirements 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response document in a sealed 

envelope before 11:30 a.m. (ET) on October 18, 2016 to the Hamilton County Purchasing Director at the address 

specified below. The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the following 

statement “BID # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this envelope/package 

should also be clearly marked with the same label. 

 

NOTE:  IMPORTANT DELIVERY/ MAILING INSTRUCTIONS 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a bid by the 

Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing Department by the specified 

deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1016-047:  Series Ballistic Plates {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
 

MINIMUM LIMITS OF INSURANCE  

The vendor shall provide proof of the following minimum limits of insurance; such coverage to be maintained 

throughout the term of the contract and be no less than: 
 

A. Commercial General Liability: $2,000,000 per occurrence for property damage and bodily injury.  The 

proposer should indicate in its proposal whether the coverage is provided on a claims-made or 

(preferably) on an occurrence basis.  The insurance shall include coverage for the following:  

 
1. Premise/Operations  
2. Explosion, Collapse and Underground Property Damage Hazard  
3. Products/Completed Operations  
4.  Contractual  
5. Independent Contractors  
6. Broad Form Property Damage  

 7. Personal Injury  
 



Bid # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

2 
 

 

 
Hamilton County Government shall be named as an additional insured on the above required liability insurance policies.  

A signed certificate of insurance shall evidence all policies and coverage shall not be cancelled without a minimum of 

thirty (30) days cancellation notice to the Hamilton County Risk Management Office.  All coverage shall be placed with 

Tennessee admitted insurers rated B+10 or better by A.M. Best’s rating service or as approved by Hamilton County’s Risk 

Manager.   Proof of Insurance must be provided before a contract award is executed with the successful bidder and 

updated as necessary. 

 
 
For listing purposes as to the additional insured use the following:    

Hamilton County, TN 

C/O Hamilton County Risk Management Office 

317 Oak Street, 2nd Floor 

Chattanooga, TN  37403 

 

 

Contacts 

Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to Captain Bill Johnson, Hamilton County Sheriff’s 
Office (423)209-8946 . 
 
Questions concerning bid specifications should be directed to Janie Burley, Purchasing Department at 
Janieb@Hamiltontn.gov or at 423-209-6350. 
 
 
Completion of Attached Forms 
 

Please complete the attached Certificate of Compliance and Authorization to Bind Forms. 
 
 
Attachments 
 

Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:Janieb@Hamiltontn.gov


Bid # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

3 
 

 

SPECIFICATIONS 

Bid Request:   DKX M3 (MAX III) Series Ballistic Plates (no substitutions) 

The DKX M3 (MAX III) Series ballistic plates are NIJ 0101.06 level III certified stand-alone. The M3 also stops special, non-

armor piercing threats, such as the Winchester Ranger and 7.62x39 MSC. The positive buoyancy of the M3 plates 

provides users in waterborne or maritime environments added support and flotation, while a rigid polycarbonate 

backing gives superior blunt force trauma protection, and a 7 year warranty. 

 

DKX M3 (MAX III) SERIES SPECIFICATIONS 
 

PROTECTION TYPE/THREAT LEVEL: NIJ III Plus 

CONFIGURATION: Stand-Alone 

CONSTRUCTION: Polyethylene /100% dyneema ballistic material 

PROTECTIVE COVERS AVAILABLE: Polyurea 

HIT RATING: Multi 

MODEL #: D2000 

TESTING CERTIFICATION/STANDARD: NIJ 0101.061 & Special Threat Tested* 

SPECIAL THREATS: .223 Rem 60gr Partition 
7.62mm x 39mm 123gr Mild Steel Core 
7.62mm x 51mm 147gr M80 FMJ  

 

SHAPE SIZE 
(IN) 

THICKNESS 
(IN) 

WEIGHT 
(LBS) 

CURVATURE PRODUCT CODE Quantity 

Shooter 
Cut /Front 

& Back 

 
10 X 12 

 
1.30 

 
2.90 

 
Multi 

 
DKX-M3-1012-SH 

 
62 

Side 
Panels/ 
Full Size 

 
5 X 6 

 
0.73 

 
0.85 

 
Multi 

 
DKM-M3-56-SPS 

 
62 

 
 
 
Quantity Required   
 

 31 Sets to include Front, Back, and Two (2) side plates- DKX M3 Series  
 

 



Bid # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

4 
 

 

Bid pricing to include shipping and delivery to Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, 6233 Dayton Blvd., Hixson, TN 37343 

 
Pricing 
 
Cost per set:  ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Total Bid Price: ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Delivery: ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Terms:   ________________________________________________________________________ 
   
 
 
 
 
Bid Submitted By: 
 
Company Name: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Name:  _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Title:  _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 
 
Contact Email:  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

5 
 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 

By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification and assurance, 
under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of this bid/proposal and the following 
items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the federal 
government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list created pursuant to 
T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without collusion, under 
penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of Hamilton 
County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, 
subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with the procurement under this 
RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

Date:     ________________________________________ ___ 
 
 
 
 

 



Bid # 1016-047: Series Ballistic Plates 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

6 
 

 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is true and 
correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I certify and 
acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton County’s consideration.  
Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in these proposal/bid documents, and 
any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Date 

 

 

 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Series Ballistic Plates Sheriff's Department

Tuesday, October 18, 2016 11:30 AM

VENDOR Botach Inc. Safeware Inc.

Total Bid Price: $43,783.16 $49,255.59

Delivery: 45 days 45-60 days

Terms: Net 30 Net 30

Low bid - Meets Specs

Request for Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 10/7/2016

Vendor Notification: 293

Vendor Response: 2

Budgeted: Narcotics



No. 1216-16 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION OF $4,000 FROM THE ROUGHNECKS 
MOTORCYCLE CLUB, VIA THE AEGIS LAW ENFORCEMENT FOUNDATION, TO 
REIMBURSE THE PURCHASE OF UPGRADED BALLISTIC VESTS TO THE HAMILTON 
COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT PURPOSES. 
 
WHEREAS, on October 24, 2016, the Roughnecks Motorcycle Club donated funds of $4,000 
to AEGIS Law Enforcement Foundation, to purchase upgraded ballistic vest for the Hamilton 
County Sheriff’s Office Reserve Deputy Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Roughnecks Motorcycle Club is a non-profit organization of active and 
retired first responders which supports charity rides from the local region to national events; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, ballistic vests have been proven to protect law enforcement personnel while 
performing their daily duties. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
To recognize the Roughnecks Motorcycle Club upon their donation, via the AEGIS Law 
Enforcement Foundation, for funding the reimbursement of upgraded ballistic vest for the 
Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office Officer Reserve Deputy Program in the amount of $4,000 
and by increasing the Operation Budget by the same stated amount.   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1216-17 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE BID OF SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY FOR ONE 
(1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, BEGINNING DECEMBER 8, 2016, THROUGH 
DECEMBER 7, 2017, FOR SOD FOR THE RECREATION DEPARTMENT AND TO 
AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, a bid was received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

pricing for sod for the Recreation Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from SiteOne Landscape Supply was the only bid received, but said bid 

is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of SiteOne Landscape Supply for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning 
December 8, 2016, through December 7, 2017, for sod for the Recreation Department is 
hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod 

Hamilton County, TN 

 

1 | P a g e  

 

 

BID SPECIFICATIONS FOR 
BERMUDA AND FESCUE SOD 

 
Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for Bermuda and Fescue Sod.  The purpose of this 
bid is to establish a contract price that will be good for a one (1) year period from time bid is 
awarded.  Sod will be ordered on an as needed basis. 
 
Bid Submission Requirements 
 
The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response 
document in a sealed envelope before 10:30 a.m. (ET) on November 8, 2016 to the Hamilton 
County Purchasing Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the 
following statement “Bid# 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod”.  Any sealed envelope(s) 
enclosed within this envelope/package should also be clearly marked with the same label 
 
 
NOTE:  IMPORTANT DELIVERY/ MAILING INSTRUCTIONS 

 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute 
receipt of a bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the 

Purchasing Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid# 1016-051:  Bermuda & Fescue Sod {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
 
Minimum Limits of Insurance 
 
1. Commercial General Liability Insurance -$1,000,000 limit per occurrence for property 

damage and bodily injury.  The service provider shall indicate in its bid whether the 
coverage is provided on a claims-made or (preferably) on an occurrence basis.  The 
insurance shall include coverage for the following: 

 
a) Premise/Operations 
b) Products/Completed Operations 
c) Contractual 
d) Independent Contractors 



Bid # 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod 

Hamilton County, TN 

 

2 | P a g e  

 

e) Broad Form Property Damage 
f) Personal Injury 

 
2. Business Automobile Liability Insurance - $1,000,000 limit per accident for property 

damage and personal injury. 
 

a) Owned/Leased Autos 
b) Non-owned Autos 
c) Hired Autos 

 
3. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance – Workers’ Compensation 

statutory limits as required by Tennessee law.  This policy should also include Employer’s 
Liability Coverage for $1,000,000. 

 
In addition, Hamilton County shall be listed as an additional insured on the above required 
liability insurance policies.  A signed certificate of insurance shall evidence all policies and 
coverage shall not be cancelled without a minimum of thirty (30) days cancellation notice to 
the Hamilton County Risk Management Office.  All coverage shall be placed with Tennessee 
admitted insurers rated B+10 or better by A.M. Best’s rating service or as approved by 
Hamilton County’s Risk Manager. 
 
Award of Bid 
While Hamilton County prefers to issue this contract to a single vendor, we reserve the right 
to award sections of the total package to multiple vendors or the entire package to a single 
vendor who may be deemed to have submitted the best overall bid package, in the best 
interest of the County.   
 
After evaluation of all sections of this bid document, the unit prices will be used in 
determining the best overall bid package.  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive any 
irregularities or reject any or all bids.   
 
Note:  Upon award of the contract, it is the responsibility of the bidder to effectively 
communicate its bid pricing to its order entry / customer service organization so that 
contract pricing is reflected on the invoices.  Pricing on any invoices must match bid pricing 
identically throughout the term of the contract.  
 

Contract Termination 
The Contract may be terminated by either party by giving written notice to the other, at least 
thirty (30) days before the effective date of termination.   
 
Completion of the attached forms 
Please complete and sign the attached Certificate of Compliance and Authorization to Bind 
forms.  
 



Bid # 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod 

Hamilton County, TN 

 

3 | P a g e  

 

 
Attachments 
Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions 

 
Contacts 
Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to Mr. Perry Brooks, Riverpark 
Superintendent, Parks and Recreation, at 423-315-3291. 
 
Questions concerning bid procedures should be directed to Janie Burley, Purchasing 
Department, at BidQuestions@HamiltonTN.gov or 423-209-6350. 
 
Specifications 
Any and all shipping, handling, freight or mileage charges must be incorporated into the unit 

pricing submitted and shall not be added as separate items added to invoices sent to Hamilton 

County for payment. 

 

 

Any pallet deposit charges or spool deposits must be listed separately and not included in the 
square foot price. 
 
All sod must be covered while transporting and must arrive at the jobsite in healthy condition.  
Each pallet should contain 504 sq. ft. of sod and must be properly and neatly stacked on the 
pallets to not cause damage while loading or unloading.  Sod pieces should be sufficiently 
moist, and in season, grass should be green.  Generally all sod pieces will measure 
approximately 12” x 18” with a minimum of 1/2” of soil base.  Grass should be at an 
acceptable height of 2 ½” – 4” for fescue, 1” – 1 1/8” for Bermuda. 
 
Customer has the right to decline any sod that does not appear to be healthy or does not 
appear to be properly stacked, or if many damaged or broken pieces of sod are evident.  
Customer should notify driver immediately if sod appears unacceptable upon delivery and 
must notify the company within twenty-four (24) hours if damaged sod becomes evident 
during installation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:BidQuestions@HamiltonTN.gov


Bid # 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod 

Hamilton County, TN 

 

4 | P a g e  

 

 
Pricing Form 
 

Description: Roll Price: 
Square Ft. 

Price: 
Pallet/Spool 

Deposits: 

Bermuda Grass by the truckload (approx. 9,072 sq. 
ft.) to include Tifway 419, Tifsport, and Patriot.  This 
price should include a roll price and square foot price 
if different. 

 

   

Bermuda Grass by the pallet (approx. 504 sq. ft.) to 
include same types as above. 

   

Fescue Sod by the truckload (approx. 9,072 sq. ft.) 
   

Fescue Sod by the pallet (approx. 504 sq. ft.) 
   

 
        

 
Company Name: __________________________________________________________ 

 
By: _____________________________________________________________________ 

 
Email Address: ____________________________________________________________ 

 
Phone: ____________________________________Fax: ___________________________ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



Bid # 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod 

Hamilton County, TN 

 

5 | P a g e  

 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification and 
assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of this 
bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the federal 
government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of 
Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, 
employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with the 
procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

Date:     ________________________________________  
 
 
 
 

 



Bid # 1016-051: Bermuda & Fescue Sod 

Hamilton County, TN 

 

6 | P a g e  

 

 
AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 

   
By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 
true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 
certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 
County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 
these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 
documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Date 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Bermuda & Fescue Sod (Re-Bid) Recreation Department

Tuesday, November 08, 2016 10:30 AM

Vendor / Info

Roll Price Square Ft. Price Total Price Pallet/Spool Deposits

Bermuda Grass by the truckload 

(approx. 9,072 sq. ft.) to include 

Tifway 419, Tifsport, and Patriot.  This 

price should include a roll price and 

square foot price if different.

No Bid $0.261
$2349.00 

(9,000 sq.ft.)
$50.00 for 5-20 pallets

Bermuda Grass by the pallet (approx. 

504 sq. ft.) to include same types as 

above.

$0.261
$117.45 (450 

sq.ft.)
$50.00, 20 pallets per 

truck load

Fescue Sod by the truckload (approx. 

9,072 sq. ft.)
$0.261

$2349.00 
(9,000 sq.ft.)

$50.00 for 5-20 pallets

Fescue Sod by the pallet (approx. 504 

sq. ft.)
$0.261

$117.45 (450 
sq.ft.)

$50.00, 20 pallets per 
truck load

Delivery:

Terms:

PLEASE NOTE:   Pallet = 450 Square Feet; Truckload (20 Pallets) = 9,000 Square Feet

Request For Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 10/27/2016

Vendor Notification: 75

Vendor Response: 1

Budgeted: Various Budgets

SiteOne Landscape Supply

3-5 days ARO

Net 30



No. 1216-18 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF LEE SMITH, INC., FOR THE FURNISHING OF 
TWO (2) EMERGENCY MEDICAL LOGISTIC VEHICLES, AMOUNTING TO $140,000.00 FOR 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for the furnishing of two (2) 

Emergency Medical Logistic Vehicles for Emergency Medical Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Lee Smith, Inc., amounting to $140,000.00 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Lee Smith, Inc., for the furnishing of two (2) Emergency Medical Logistic Vehicles 
amounting to $140,000.00 for Emergency Medical Services is hereby accepted, said bid being the 
lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -1- 

BID SPECIFICATIONS 

Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicle 

Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids to furnish Hamilton County Emergency Medical Services 
two (2) EMS Logistics Vehicles.   

 

Bid price on all items to include shipping/delivery to: 

 Hamilton County Emergency Medical Services 
 2900 Riverport Road 
 Chattanooga, Tennessee  37406 

 

BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response document in 
a sealed envelope before 10:30 a.m. (ET) on November 15, 2016 to the Hamilton County Purchasing 
Director at the address specified below. 

 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the following 
statement “Bid # 1116-057: EMS Logistics Vehicle”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this 
envelope/package should also be clearly marked with the same label. 

 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a 
bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing 

Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1116-057: EMS Logistics Vehicles {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
 

AWARD OF BID 

While Hamilton County prefers to issue this contract to a single vendor, we reserve the right to award 
sections of the total package to multiple vendors or the entire package to a single vendor who may be 
deemed to have submitted the best overall bid package, in the interest of the County. 

 
After evaluation of all sections of this bid document, the unit prices will be used in determining the best 
overall bid package.  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive any irregularities or reject any or all 
bids. 

 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -2- 

 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID PRICING FORM   

Submit your bid as specified below on the attached Pricing Form.  
 
COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID SUBMISSION FORMS  

The attached Certificate of Compliance and Authorization to Bind forms must be signed and submitted 
as a part of your bid submission package. 

 
CONTACTS 

Questions concerning product specifications should be directed to Capt. Eric Ethridge, (423) 493-5105 or 
jethridge@mail.hamiltontn.gov. 
 
Questions concerning bid procedures should be directed to Janie Burley, Hamilton County Purchasing 
Department at BidQuestions@HamiltonTN.gov or (423) 209-6353. 

 

SPECIFICATIONS 

2017 Super Cab 4x4 Dual Rear Wheels with Utility Body and Hydraulic Rail Gate. 

 

SCOPE:  

The intent of these specifications is to describe manufacturer's current service body production 

design mounted on an 84" Cab-to-axle dual-wheel extended cab chassis. Body shall be equipped with 

a 1,250 foot-pound capacity hydraulic railgate.  The vehicle will have special modifications as listed in 

these specifications for use as an EMS Logistics Vehicle including installation of emergency lighting, 

siren, auxiliary power, cylinder transport, and utility lighting capabilities.   The vehicle will have heavy 

towing capabilities with chassis manufacture installed electronic trailer braking and trailer electric 

connections.  The vehicle will have all wheel drive capability for use off road or in a variety of low 

traction situations for emergency response scenarios.   The vehicle is designed for daily duties as well 

as disaster response roles. 

 

GENERAL:  

All equipment furnished shall be new, unused and of the manufacturer's current service body 

production design. Bidder must meet the minimum standards established by this specification sheet. 

Failure to meet these minimum specifications shall cause the bid to be subject to rejection for 

nonconformity to specifications.   

 

Brand names specified are examples of desired function and minimum performance.  Components 

demonstrated to be equal will be evaluated and will be acceptable if meeting specifications. 

 

 

 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -3- 

I. CHASSIS SPECIFICATIONS F-450 Super Cab 4x4 dual rear wheels (or equivalent) 

 

A. Engine: 6.8L 3-valve EFI V-10 Gas engine SOHC 288 HP w/ 424ft·lb torque at 3000 RPM 

B. Transmission: TorqShift 6-speed automatic includes select shift GVWR:  16500 lbs. 

payload package 

C. 4x4  

D. Axle ratio: 4.88 

E. Front and rear shocks 

F. Tires: 225/70Rx19.5 BSW A/S 

G. Wheel base 192" with 84" CA 

H. Wheels: 19.5" argent painted steel Stainless Steel Wheel Covers front and rear 

I. Seats 

1. 60/40 folding rear split-bench seat  

2. Front trim cloth 40/20/40 split bench seat 

3. Includes 20% center under-seat storage, center arm rest cup holder  

J. Interior 

1. Instrumentation type display analog  

2. Remote AM/FM stereo/single CD/MP3 player 

3. Adjustable pedals 

4. Cruise control with steering wheel controls Manual tilt steering wheel 

5. Wireless phone connectivity  

6. Interior color Earth  gray 

7. Fixed rear window w/defrost includes privacy glass  

8. Glovebox 

9. 110V/400W outlet one in dash mounted outlet  

K. Value Package 8 way power driver's seat-adjustable pedals-keyless entry pad Transfer 

case skid plates 

L. Upfitter interface module 

M. Advanced security pack includes  Passive anti-theft system  

N. Utility lighting system 

O. Center High-mounted stop Lamp 

P. Rear view camera & prep kit includes camera 

Q. Exterior back up alarm 

R. Daytime running lamps 

S. 50 state emissions system 

T. Exterior color Oxford white  

U. Air conditioning with air filter 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -4- 

V. Chrome front bumper 

W. Platform running boards  

X. 40 gallon single fuel tank 

Y. Brakes 

1. 4-wheel ABS brakes  

2. 4-wheel disc brakes 

Z. Occupant Safety 

1. Seatbelts 

2. Dual front impact airbag supplemental restraint system Brake controller 

AA. Towing capability 

1. Towing capacity 17800 lbs.  

2. Factory trailer brake controller 

3. Trailer harness 

4. Power Scope trailer tow mirrors w/heat power folding 

BB. Warranty 

i. Basic warranty distance 36000 miles/36 months Powertrain distance 60000 

miles/60 months 

ii. Corrosion perforation distance unlimited miles/60 months Roadside assistance 

distance 60000 miles/60   months 

 

BODY SPECIFICATIONS: 

A. BODY DIMENSIONS: 

1. Overall Length: 132" 

2. Overall Width: 93" 

3. Overall Height: 48" 

4. Compartment Depth: 21½ ," 

5. Interior Bed Width: 48" 

6. Compartmentation: 

iii. Street side: 

a. Body shall be fitted with two (2) Front Vertical 
Compartments, a Middle Horizontal Compartment and a 
Rear Vertical Compartment.  

b. The 1st Frontal Vertical Compartment shall measure 36” 
wide x 40 ¾ “ high with a clear door opening of 27 ½ “ 
wide x 34” high with the compartment connecting the first 
vertical compartment of the street stride to 1st front 
vertical compartment of the curbside fully enclosed. 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -5- 

c. The 1st Vertical Compartment shall be fitted with a slide-out 
drawer that goes the entire length of the through 
compartment accessible from either the street side or 
curbside of the service body. 

d. The 2nd Front Vertical Compartment shall measure 21" 

wide X 40" high with a clear door opening of 17 ½ " wide X 

34 ¼ " high and be fitted with two shelves and bin dividers. 

e. The Middle Horizontal Compartment shall measure 47" 

wide X 18 1/4" high with a clear door opening of 44" wide X 

13" high and be fitted with one shelf and bin dividers. 
f. The Rear Vertical Compartment shall measure 28" wide X 40" 

high with a clear door opening of 22" wide X 34" high and be 

fitted with tank racks (see attached photo). 
iv. Curbside: 

a. Body shall be fitted with two (2) Front Vertical 
Compartments, a Middle Horizontal Compartment and a 
Rear Vertical Compartment. 

b. The 1st Front Vertical Compartment shall measure 36" wide X 

40" high with a clear door opening of 27" wide X 34" high with 

the compartment connecting the 1st Front Vertical 

Compartment of the Curbside to the 1st front Vertical 

Compartment of the Street side fully enclosed. 

c. The 1st Vertical Compartment shall be fitted with a slide-out 

drawer that goes the entire length of the through 

compartment accessible from either the Curbside or Street 

side of the service body. 

d. The 2nd Front Vertical Compartment shall measure 21" 

wide X 40" high with a clear door opening of 17 ½ " wide X 

34 ¼ " high and be fitted with two shelves and bin dividers. 

e. The Middle Horizontal Compartment shall measure 47" 

wide X 18" high with a clear door opening of 45" wide X 13" 

high and be fitted with one shelf and bin dividers. 

f. The Rear Vertical Compartment shall measure 28" wide X 

40" high with a clear door opening of 22" wide X 34" high 

and be fitted with tank racks (see attached photo). 

 
B. CONSTRUCTION: (All steel used in the construction of the body must be A60 g 

Galvannealed zinc coated steel.) 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -6- 

1. Understructure: 7-gauge steel channel front and rear full width cross members with 
12-gauge steel channels fore and aft of the wheel house panels. 

2. Floor: 

i. 12-gauge 2-sided A60 coating weight steel with diamond pressed pattern 

(patented) at 

.050 height installed flush at rear cross member joggle for enhanced safety 

and elimination of floor 'peal up' and snag free loading 

ii. Floor provides flat, unobstructed load space with no 'wheel house' boxes and is 

entirely seam sealed 

iii. Body floor shall have a 10" high 12-gauge galvannealed pressed diamond tread 

plate aluminum subfloor. With channel supports dividing the covered floor area 

compartments for storage of oxygen tanks that are 9" in diameter with angle 

set-up to keep the tanks from sliding side-to-side during transport. (See 

picture attached) 

3. Doors: Double panel A60 2-sided 18-gauge galvannealed steel exterior panel. 1 ¼ " 

thick, with plated chain support on all horizontal doors and nitrogen strut door 

holders with internal dampeners on all vertical doors. Interior panel 20-gauge 2-

sided A60 coating weight steel. Locks shall be flush mounted, automotive quality, 

stainless steel T-Handle locks. Interior of doors shall have removable covers to 

prevent loose items from jamming or damaging lock  
4. Door Hinges: Hidden 10-gauge zinc-plated steel hinge which allows door to lap door 

frame on all four sides. Bolt-on hidden hinge has ¼ “stainless steel pins at all pivot 

points. (Piano or exposed hinges are not acceptable). 

5. Shelving: 18-gauge minimum spangle galvanized steel slotted on 2" centers for 
dividers. All shelves are removable with a "lock in place" feature. (Unless 
otherwise noted in 

6. Body Sides: 16-gauge 2-sided A60 coating weight steel with zinc-plated 
corner casting reinforcement and two stage eagle's beak radii rub rail for 
superior strength 

7. Bulkhead: 

i. Full side compartment height, constructed of 16-gauge 2-sided A60 coating 

weight steel 

ii. Die-formed reinforcing rib through front wall with rib facing the load space 

for even greater strength during load shift 

8. Front Panels: 14-gauge 2-sided A60 coating weight steel, flanged design for 
enhanced rigidity 

9. Second Front Partitions: 16-gauge 2-sided A60 coating weight steel 
10. Front Compartment Base: 16-gauge 2-sided A60 coating weight steel 
11. Horizontal Compartment Base: 16-gauge 2-sided A60 coating weight steel to 

prevent deflection when cabinet is loaded 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -7- 

12. Wheelhouse Panel: (Seamless, Flush Type) 
i. 18-gauge 2-sided AGO coating weight steel with skirt line bottom flange return for 

superior strength clean appearance 
ii. Blind vertical attachment seam for clean appearance and the prevention of 

harboring road salts and corrosives 

iii. Panel includes 1-7/8" radii wheel well flare for road spray control 

13. Second Rear Partition: 

i.  16-gauge 2-sided AGO coating weight steel 

ii. Partition includes the porting of a 'pass-thru' shuttle panel for longer item 

storage while still maintaining the needed vertical capacity in the rear 

compartment 

14. Rear Compartment Base: A. 16-gauge 2-sided AGO coating weight steel  

15. 15. Rear Panels: A. 12-gauge 2-sided AGO coating weight steel, flanged design. 

16. Light Guards: Welded inside rear panels with large wiring access ports. Light guards are 

full depth from door opening to rear wall for superior rear wall support, wire loom 

protection and 

17. Aluminum gas fill box receptacle for superior protection against chips and corrosion. 

18. Receptacle is piloted for the OEM breathable fuel fill membrane hose and tethered gas 

cap  

19. Flip-Top Lids on both street side and curbside compartments: 

i. 12-gauge tread plate aluminum with 12-gauge Hat Section reinforcement under 

lid. 

ii. Two (2) gas charged nitrogen prop supports, one (1) each end 

iii. Two (2) rotary-action locking devices, one (1) each end, with key-locking push 

button release accessible from horizontal compartment interior for enhanced 

security 

20. Flip-Top Compartment Base: 

i. 18-gauge steel 

ii. Full Length 14-gauge steel longitudinal header 

 

 

II. RAILGATE SPECIFICATIONS: 

A. Service Body shall be equipped with a medium duty railgate with a 1,250-pound 

capacity 

B. Railgate shall be equipped with a curb side mounted control 

C. Railgate power unit shall be installed, tested and enclosed in weather protected housing 

D. Railgate platform shall be 30" deep x 50" wide and made of heavy-duty treadplate steel 

surface 

E. Railgate shall be equipped with UHMW -Slide pads and runners 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -8- 

F. Railgate shall be equipped with a torsion bar assisted platform to make it easier to open 

and close 

G. Railgate platform shall be powder coat finish to make resistant to corrosion and 

abrasion. 

H. Railgate shall be chain and sprocket drive 

I. Railgate to lift from ground level to 10" above the standard body floor. 

J. Railgate to have pressure compensated flow control valve controls platform decent 

regardless of load and weight. 

K. Railgate to have weather sealed electric controls and charge line circuit protection. 

L. Railgate to have a license plate recess 

M. Railgate to have a built in toe deflector 

N. Railgate to meet TMC specifications 

 

III. LIGHTS: 
A. Body shall be equipped with all lights as required by federal, state, and local 

regulations.  All federally required body lights shall be LED type. Stop, Turn, Tail, Marker, 

Reverse all LED 

B. Chassis shall be equipped with Havis Shield Console, model # HVC-3010, in between 

driver’s seat. Console to consist of all Havis Shield switches to control all lights and have 

room for EMS radios and equipment. All unused areas to be covered with filler plates. 

C. Havis Shield Console to be equipped with internal dual cup holder. 

D. Havis Shield Console to be equipped with two side mount armrest. One for Driver’s 

side, one for passenger side and a Havis accessory pocket. 

i. Chassis shall be equipped with a 54" Liberty II Series cab mounted lightbar 

wired to switch that controls on/off function in the cab integrated into 

console switches (Lightbar Model # IX2RRRR) 

ii.  Lightbar to be equipped with two long Super-LED Takedown Lights (Model # 

ITL3). 

iii. Lightbar to be equipped with four SOLO Series Linear-LED Flashers, 1 long red 

(Model # IWDLR) 

iv. Lightbar to be equipped with six SOLO Series Linear-LED Flashers, 1 long white 

(Model # IWDLC 

v. Lightbar to be equipped with two Super LED Alley lights (Model # IA3) 

vi. Lightbar to be mounted using mounting bracket model # MKEZ38 

vii. Lightbar to be equipped with four SOLO Series Linear-LED Flashers, 1Short Red 

(Model # IWDSI) 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -9- 

viii. Lightbar to be fitted with the Liberty 54" Light Bar Clear Lenses. 

 

E. Chassis shall be equipped with two Whelen ION Super-LED Chrome 

Plate Surface Mount Housing, Split Red/White installed on grill of 

chassis with switch to control on/off function in the cab i n t e g r a t e d  

into console switches. Size ⅞" high X 1 ¼ '' deep X 4" wide. 

F. Service body shall be equipped with two Whelen ION Super-LED Split 

Red/Amber. Size ⅞" high X 1¾” deep X 4" wide. Both installed using 

Chrome Plate Surface Mount Housing with one installed on rear street 

side compartment and one rear curbside compartment with switch to 

control on/off function in the cab integrated into console switches 

G. Service Body shall be equipped with two Unity 6" spotlight mounted 

on rear of the body with one on the street side rear compartment and 

one mounted on the rear curbside rear compartment. Switch to 

control on/off function in the cab integrated into console switches. 

H. Each compartment shall have LED strip-lights with switch to 

control on/off function in the cab integrated into console 

switches. 

 

IV. ACCESSORIES: 

A. Cargo area of bed to include: bed sides, walls, bulkhead all shall be equipped with a 5" 

wide E-Track mounted as high as possible on bed sides, walls and bulkhead level with 

each section.  

B. Body shall be equipped with 2000 Watt power inverter installed in 

second vertical compartment on curbside. 

C. Body shall be equipped with a GFI plug and cover mounted on rear 

of body on curbside wired to power inverter. 

D. Chassis shall be equipped with Class IV Hitch 

E. Cargo area of bed to include: bed sides, walls, bulkhead all shall be 

covered with bright finished aluminum tread plate from sub-floor to 

the top of compartment along the curbside, street side and bulkhead. 

F. Body shall be equipped with bright finished aluminum tread plate on 

front of body panels, not on front of bulkhead. 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -10- 

G. Installation of chassis supplied back up camera on rear of body in a 

manner to provide a clear view of the rear of the vehicle to aid the 

driver while backing.  The unit will be mounted in a manner that 

provides adequate protection to the camera on the rear of the 

vehicle and prevent damage during normal use of the vehicle. 

 

V. MOUNTING AND PAINTING: 

 

A. Unit shall be installed in accordance with accepted industry standards. There shall 

be no welding on the chassis frame in the mounting of the body or its components. 

B. The entire body shall be thoroughly cleaned and primed in a 12  stage automotive 

electro-cathodic immersion prime paint system and then powder coat finished white 

(matching chassis color) inside and outside the compartments and outside conforming 

to all current state and federal environmental regulations.  

C. Entire understructure shall be first primed and then undercoated. Bodies not primed 

and undercoated on the understructure are not acceptable. 

D. No graphics or stripping will be installed by vendor.  The vehicle will be delivered in a 

solid color white as specified for the chassis. 

E. Bidder shall have an approved service center with factory trained personnel and 

parts within 75 miles of customer. 

 

VI. WARRANTY: 
 

The body supplier shall provide a written guarantee for the body and accessories. 
Manufacturer warranties are acceptable for each component. Warranty details will be 
provided at time of bid.  

VII.  DELIVERY: 
 

Delivery will be included in bid price.  Delivery will be made to Hamilton County EMS 

at a location within Hamilton County to be determined prior to deliver.  Upon delivery 

vehicles will be completed and fully functional with all items as detailed in this 

specification.



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -11- 

 

Photos:  Are representative not identical to the specifications. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -12- 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -13- 

PRICING SHEET 
 
EMS Logistics vehicle $________________ each vehicle 
 
 Chassis Mfg.   ________________ 
  
 Chassis Model   ________________  
 
 Body Mfg.    ________________  
 
 Body Model   ________________ 
 
 

Estimated delivery time after order: ___________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
Company Name: __________________________________________________ 
 
By: _____________________________________________________________ 
 
Phone: ______________________________Fax:_________________________ 
 
Email Address: ____________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -14- 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification and 
assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of this 
bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the     
 federal 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
 federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
 created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
 collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or 
 official of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an 
 officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in 
 connection with the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name: __________________________________________ 

Authorized Signature: __________________________________________ 

Date:   __________________________________________    



Bid # 1116-057:  Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

 
 -15- 

 
AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 

   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 
true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 
certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 
County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 
these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 
documents, if selected.   

  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Date 
 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Furnish (2) EMS Logistic Vehicles Emergency Medical Services

November 15, 2016 10:30 AM

Vendor / Info Lee Smith, Inc. (HC) Stringfellow, Inc. (HC) EMS Innovations, Inc.
Custom Truck & Body 

Works, Inc.

Bid price per vehicle $70,000.00 $75,310.00 $82,984.80 $86,210.00

Total Bid Price - (2) 

Vehicles $140,000.00 $150,620.00 $165,969.60 $172,420.00

Chassis Mfg. Ford Ford Ford Ford 

Chassis Model F-450 F-450 F-450 F-450

Body Mfg. Reading Reading Knapheide Custom Works

Body Model Classic II Classic II 6132-50D54FJ1 Plus 50 All Aluminum

Delivery 22-26 weeks 24-26 weeks 12-15 weeks
90-120 days after 

receipt of Chassis

Terms COD Net 10 Net 30 COD

Request For Bids: Low bid - meets specs

Newspaper Ad: 11/4/2016

Vendor Notification: 561

Vendor Response: 4

Budgeted: Capital Outlay



No. 1216-19 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF TROXELL COMMUNICATIONS INC.,  FOR 
A ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 17, 2016 
THROUGH NOVEMBER 16, 2017 FOR THE PURCHASE OF PROJECTORS FOR THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT COURTROOMS AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for a one (1) year 

contract unit pricing for projectors for the Hamilton County Circuit Court 
courtrooms; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Troxell Communications Inc. was considered to be the lowest 

and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Troxell Communications Inc., for projectors for the Hamilton County Circuit 
Court courtrooms is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





  

  

BID # 1016-045: Courtroom Projectors 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
 

STATEMENT OF INTENT 

Hamilton County, Tennessee hereinafter referred to as “the County” is soliciting sealed bids for 
the purpose of establishing a twelve (12) month contract for the procurement of approximately 
six (6) projectors, under a unit price agreement, for the Hamilton County Circuit Court 
Courtrooms. All prices must remain fixed during this contract period.   
 
BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response 
document in a sealed envelope before 1:30  P.M. (ET) on October 18, 2016 to the Hamilton 
County Purchasing Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the 
following statement “BID # 1016-045: Projectors”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this 
envelope / package should also be clearly marked with the same label.  
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute 
receipt of a bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the 

Purchasing Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1016-045:  Projectors {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 
PRICING 

Prices quoted shall be firm for the term of the contract and no cost increases shall be accepted 
in this contract term.   

PAYMENT 

Hamilton County potentially will place multiple orders based on the pricing included in the 
accepted bid package.  Only the specific amounts ordered and received, per purchase order, 
should be invoiced by the vendor.  Payment will be made upon receipt of the invoice for each 
individual order. 
 
CONTRACT TERMINATION 

The Contract may be terminated by either party by giving written notice to the other at least 
thirty (30) days before the effective date of termination. 
 



BID # 1016-045: Courtroom Projectors 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  2 | P a g e  

 

 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Prior to execution of the contract, the proposer shall procure and  maintain at their own 
expense, the following insurance against claims for injuries or damages to property or other 
claims which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work or services 
provided hereunder by proposer, their sub agents, representatives, employees or 
subcontractors.  Note however that coverage requirements are subject to change as business 
needs dictate.  The successful firm shall maintain throughout the contract period the following 
minimal insurance coverages: 
 
1. Commercial General Liability Insurance:  $1,000,000 per occurrence for property damage 

and bodily injury covering the operation of employees and agents for the contracted 
operations as well as civil rights claims.  The proposer should indicate in its proposal 
whether the coverage is provided on a claims-made or (preferably) on an occurrence basis.  
The insurance shall include coverage for the following:   

a. Premise/Operations 
b. Explosion, Collapse and Underground Property Damage Hazard (only when 

applicable to the project) 
c. Products/Completed Operations 
d. Contractual 
e. Independent Contractors 
f. Broad Form Property Coverage 
g. Personal Injury  

 
Hamilton County shall be listed as an additional insured on the above required liability insurance 
policies.  A signed certificate of insurance shall evidence all policies and coverage shall not be 
cancelled without a minimum of thirty (30) days cancellation notice to the Hamilton County Risk 
Management Office.  All coverage shall be placed with Tennessee admitted insurers rated B+10 
or better by A.M. Best’s rating service or as approved by Hamilton County’s Risk Manager. 
 
 
SUBSTITUTION AND TECHNOLOGY REFRESHMENT 

If at any time during the life of this agreement, the original manufacturer of the equipment 
(includes software, hardware and firmware) schedules the products for discontinuation, 
improvement and/or replacement, the agreement holder shall provide a proposal to include the 
new or revised products on this agreement.  Proposed prices for new or revised products shall 
be constructed for most favored prices.  Discounts shall be at the same or greater discount 
level as the original agreement product prices.  Proposals shall be submitted to the Contracting 
Officer within seven (7) days of the agreement holder’s awareness of the OEM’s 
intent.  Improvement of product includes new releases, updates, upgrades including additional 
features/functionality, and successor or upgrade products. 
 
 
 
 
 



BID # 1016-045: Courtroom Projectors 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  3 | P a g e  

 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED FORMS 

Submit your bid as specified below on the attached Detailed Bid Specifications and Pricing 
Forms.  Indicate the extent to which your suggested product meets each specification included.   
 
The attached Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms must be signed and 
submitted as a part of your bid submission package. 
 
CONTACTS 

Questions regarding bid procedures or product specifications should be directed to Janie 
Burley, Hamilton County Purchasing Department, at Janieb@hamiltontn.gov or (423) 209-6350. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions 
 

BID SPECIFICATIONS 

The attached specifications have been written to define the minimum acceptable standards 
allowed for this bid. The County will only consider bids that meet or exceed these specifications. 
Each item in each of the following categories must be completed.  Please respond as instructed.  
Please indicate to what extent your proposed product meets each of the specifications listed 
below by placing an “X” in either the “MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If 
your equipment does not meet any specification, please explain using the comments column. 
Please note that a model similar or better to the NEC P502HL would be desirable for the 
County’s needs. 
 

PROJECTOR 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR 
EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Brightness: 5,000 Lumens      

Light Source: Laser    

Lamp Life: 20,000 Hours    

PC Signal Compatibility: VGA, 
SVGA, XGA, SXGA, SXGA+, WXGA     

External Control: RS-232    

Power Requirements: 120 V AC, 
50/60hz    

Resolution: WXGA, 1920 x 1080    

mailto:Janieb@hamiltontn.gov


BID # 1016-045: Courtroom Projectors 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  4 | P a g e  

 

PROJECTOR 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR 
EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Aspect Ratio: 16:9    

Video System: NTSC    

Input: HDMI, 15 pin D-sub    

Warranty Length: 5 years    

Include Manufacturer’s Spec Sheet 
with bid    

Include Manufacturer’s warranty 
information with bid     
 

 
BID PRICING FORM 
 

Bid pricing to include shipping and delivery only. Installation will be completed by Hamilton 
County. Delivery address to be confirmed at time of order. 

 
Manufacturer and Model:  ___________________________________________________ 
 
Projection technology (DLP, LCD, etc.):  _____________________________________________ 
 
Price per Projector: __________________________________________________________ 
 
Delivery:  __________________________________________________________ 
 
Terms:   __________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
SUBMITTED BY: 
 
Company Name:  _____________________________________________________  

                       Print Name 

 
Contact Name:  ______________________________________________________ 
     Print Name 
 

Contact Phone:  ______________________________________________________ 
     

 



BID # 1016-045: Courtroom Projectors 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  5 | P a g e  

 

 
AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 

   
By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this 
document is true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT 
tainted by any collusion.  I certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the 
release of this proposal for Hamilton County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind 
my company to the responses and pricing in these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent 
negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________   
Date 
 
 
 

 



BID # 1016-045: Courtroom Projectors 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

  6 | P a g e  

 

 
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 
By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make 
certification and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance 
with all provisions of this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by 
the federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by 
the federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the 
list created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, 
without collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or 
official of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting 
as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder 
in connection with the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________  

 Date:    _________________________________________ 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Courtroom Projectors Circuit Court

Tuesday October 18, 2016 1:30 PM

Vendor / Projector Info Avitecture

AV 

MarketPlace, 

dba Projector 

People

Beeler 

Impression 

Products 

(HC)

Beeler 

Impression 

Products (HC)

California Media 

Solutions Inc.

Central 

Technologies

Continental Film 

Productions 

Corporation (HC)

Make /Model Optoma NEC NP502HL

RICOH PJ 

WXL6280 

WXGA

RICOH PJ 

WUL6280 

WUXGA

NEC NP502HL NEC NP502HL Sony VPL-FHZ60

Projection Technology (DLP, 

LCD, etc.)
DLP DLP DLP DLP Laser Laser LCD, Laser

Warranty (min. 5 yr) 3 yr 3 yr 3 yr 3 yr
3 yr plus possible 2 

yr promo
5 yr 5 yr

PRICE PER PROJECTOR $3,382.10 $3,699.00 $7,974.49 $9,970.41 $3,247.00 $3,576.00 $6,950.00

Delivery:

4 days 5-7 days 14 days 14 days 7 days
10 business 

days
14 days

Terms: Net 30 Net 30 10 days 10 days Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 



Courtroom Projectors Circuit Court

Tuesday October 18, 2016 1:30 PM

Vendor / Projector Info

M3 

Technology 

Group, Inc.

Netrix LLC

Strictly 

Technology 

LLC

Technology 

Express

Troxell 

Communications, 

Inc.

Valiant 

National AV 

Supply 

VisionWorx LLC, 

dba CCS 

Presentation 

Systems

Make /Model NEC NP502HL NEC NP502HL NEC NP502HL NEC NP502HL NEC NP502HL
Dukane 6650 

WSS
Dukane 6650 HDSS

Projection Technology (DLP, 

LCD, etc.)
DLP DLP DLP DLP DLP/Laser DLP Laser

Warranty (min. 5 yr) 5 yr 5 yr 5 yr 5 yr 5 yr 5 yr 5 yr

PRICE PER PROJECTOR $4,480.78 $3,373.00 $3,225.00 $3,694.67 $3,190.81 $2,839.75 $3,500.00

Delivery:

10 days FedEx Ground
FedEx 

Ground

7-10 business 

days
7-21 days 7-10 days 14 days

Terms: Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 



Courtroom Projectors Circuit Court

Tuesday October 18, 2016 1:30 PM

Vendor / Projector Info
Wrightcore, 

Inc. (HC)

Y and S 

Technologies

Make /Model NEC NP502HL NEC NP502WL

Projection Technology (DLP, 

LCD, etc.)
DLP DLP

Warranty (min. 5 yr)
3 yr / 1 yr 

Instacare
5 yr

PRICE PER PROJECTOR $3,682.34 $2,536.00

Delivery:

Free ground 

freight
30 days

Terms: Net 45 Net 30

Request For Bids: Meets specs - Next low bid

Newspaper Ad: 10/7/2016 Does not meet specs
Vendor Notification: 677

Vendor Response: 16

Budgeted:
Capital Outlay



No. 1216-20 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF OCTOBER 1, 2016, THROUGH OCTOBER 31, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between October 1, 2016, through October 31, 

2016.  
 
 October 3, 2016, $13,414.17 for 7,987 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.6975 per gallon 

from Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 October 11, 2016, $13,771.38 for 8,410 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.6375 per gallon 

from Collins Oil Company.  
 
 October 11, 2016, $12,369.87 for 7,445 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.6615 per gallon from 

Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 October 12, 2016, $11,520.98 for 7,128 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.616299 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants. 
 
 October 13, 2016, $433.51 for 150 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.89006 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
  
 October 13, 2016, $12,812.98 for 8,463 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.5140 per gallon 

from Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
 October 14, 2016, $1,364.72 for 691 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.9750 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 October 20, 2016, $11,605.75 for 7,222 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.6070 per gallon from 

Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  



 

 

 
 October 24, 2016, $12,426.91 for 8,409 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.47781 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
 October 24, 2016, $12,423.96 for 8,407 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.47781 per gallon  

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
  
 
   
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 1216-21 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF PRATER FORD, INC., FOR THREE (3) 4X4 HALF-
TON PICKUP TRUCKS, AMOUNTING TO $80,890.84, AND THE BID OF GOLDEN CIRCLE 
FORD FOR THREE (3) 4X4 THREE-QUARTER TON AND TWO (2) 4X4 DUAL REAR WHEEL 
ONE (1) TON PICKUP TRUCKS AMOUNTING TO $148,673.00 FOR HAMILTON COUNTY 
AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
   
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for pickup trucks of various 

sizes and configurations for the Emergency Services Department (2), Health 
Department (1), Highway Department (2), Recreation Department (3); and,  

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Prater Ford, Inc. for the three (3) 4x4 half-ton pickup trucks amounting to 

$80,890.84, and the bid from Golden Circle Ford for the three (3) three-quarter ton and 
two (2) one ton dual rear wheel pickup trucks amounting to $148,673.00 were 
considered to be the lowest and best bids received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Prater Ford, Inc., for three (3) 4x4 half-ton pickup trucks, and the bid of Golden Circle 
Ford for three (3) 4x4 three-quarter ton and two (2) 4x4 dual rear wheel one (1) ton pickup trucks for 
Hamilton county is hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing 
the County Mayor to sign any contacts necessary to implement this resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
SPECIFICATIONS 

 
Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for nine (9) pickup trucks: 
 

 Four (4) 4x4  ½ ton pickups, various cab sizes 

 Three (3) 4x4  ¾ ton pickup (engine 5.7L or above), various cab and bed sizes 

 Two (2) 4x4  one (1) ton pickups, Crew Cab, Dual Rear Wheels 
 
Vehicles shall be equipped with all standard manufacturers’ equipment for the model bid. Any 
deviations from the specifications shall be provided in detail. The vehicles shall meet or exceed the 
following specifications. All bids are to be F.O.B. Chattanooga, Tennessee. Dealers must include 
manufacturer’s spec sheets with bids. 
 
BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
 
The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response document in 
a sealed envelope before 10:30 A.M. (ET) on November 11, 2016 to the Hamilton County Purchasing 
Director at the address specified below. 
 
The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the following 
statement “BID#: 1116-053: Pickup Trucks”. Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this 
envelope/package should also be clearly marked with the same label.  
 

Note:  Important delivery / mailing instructions. 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute 

receipt of a bid by the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the 

Purchasing Department by the specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 

 
Completion of the attached forms 
Please complete and sign the attached Authorization to Bind, and Certificate of Compliance forms. 

 
Contacts 
 
Questions concerning product specifications and bid procedures should be directed to the Purchasing 
Department, Janie Burley, at BidQuestions@hamiltontn.gov or 423-209-6350. 
 
 



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
DETAILED BID SPECIFICATIONS 
 
Configuration A - 4x4  ½ ton Pickups 
 
Items found in this section set forth the County’s minimum expectations for new and unused, current 
year model (2017), 4x4  ½ ton Pickup Trucks sought through this bid document.  Each item in each of 
the following categories must be completed.  Please respond as instructed.  Please indicate to what 
extent your proposed vehicle meets each of the specifications listed below by placing an “X” in either 
the “MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If your equipment does not meet any 
specification, please explain using the comments column.  All bids are F.O.B. Chattanooga, Tennessee. 
 
Note:  If quoting more than one make/model of vehicle, a separate vendor/manufacturers’ specification 
sheet must be provided for each vehicle being quoted.  All quotes may be returned in one sealed bid 
envelope. 
 
Specifications for 4x4  ½ ton Pickup Truck 
 

4x4  ½ ton PICKUP TRUCK 
SPECIFICATIONS-MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

TRANSMISSION: 6-Speed Automatic  
   

4-Wheel Drive 
   

ENGINE: 3.5L V6, Gasoline 
   

AIR CONDITIONING: Factory Installed 
   

BRAKES: 4-wheel disc brakes, ABS 
   

FLOOR: Vinyl 
   

SEATING: Vinyl 
   

POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP: Including 
steering, windows, locks and power mirrors 
right and left 

   

GLASS: Light Tinted 
   

TIRES: 5 All- Terrain tires 
   

BUMPER: Rear step bumper 
   

RADIO: AM/FM, CD player, factory installed 
   

BED: 6 ½ ft. bed 
   



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

4x4  ½ ton PICKUP TRUCK 
SPECIFICATIONS-MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

TOWING PACKAGE OPTION: Minimum 
5000lbs w/7 point connector w/hitch 
receiver 
Price separately as option if not standard 
equipment, and available as option 

   

COLOR:  To be given at order 
   

GROUND CLEARANCE: 8.0” minimum 
   

COLOR:  To be given at order 
   

KEYS: Dealer to supply five (5) keys 
   

All standard equipment as listed by 
manufacturer 

   

Include Manufacturer’s Warranty 
Information with bid. 

   

Dealer must include Manufacturer’s Spec 
Sheet with bid. 

   

 
Pricing: Configuration A - 4 x 4 ½ ton pickup trucks 
 
Please list prices for each type of Cab listed: 
 

1) Base Bid Price REGULAR CAB (ea): ___________________________________________ 
 

Price of Base Bid plus Towing Package Option (ea) ______________________________ 
 

Make: _____________________________________Model: _______________________ 
 
2) Base Bid Price EXTENDED CAB (ea): __________________________________________ 

 
Price of Base Bid plus Towing Package Option (ea): _____________________________ 

 
Make: _____________________________________Model: _______________________ 

 
3) Base Bid Price CREW CAB (ea): ______________________________________________ 

 
Price of Base Bid plus Towing Package Option (ea): _____________________________ 

 
Make: _____________________________________Model: _______________________ 

 



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
PLEASE NOTE:  
For one (1) of the 4x4  ½ ton pickups, emergency wig-wag strobe lights will need to be purchased and installed.  
 
Please list additional cost for purchase and installation if not included in base price:  
 
$______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
DETAILED BID SPECIFICATIONS 
 
Configuration B - 4x4  ¾ ton Pickup Truck, 5.7L Engine or above 
 
Items found in this section set forth the County’s minimum expectations for new and unused, current 
year model (2017), 4x4  ¾ ton , 5.7L Engine or above Pickup Trucks sought through this bid document.  
Each item in each of the following categories must be completed.  Please respond as instructed.  Please 
indicate to what extent your proposed vehicle meets each of the specifications listed below by placing 
an “X” in either the “MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If your equipment does not 
meet any specification, please explain using the comments column.  All bids are F.O.B. Chattanooga, 
Tennessee. 
 
Note:  If quoting more than one make/model of vehicle, a separate vendor/manufacturers’ specification 
sheet must be provided for each vehicle being quoted.  All quotes may be returned in one sealed bid 
envelope. 
 

Specifications for 4x4  ¾ ton, 5.7L Engine or above Pickup Truck 

4x4 ¾ ton, 5.7L ENGINE OR ABOVE PICKUP 
TRUCK 
SPECIFICATIONS-MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

TRANSMISSION: 6 Speed Automatic w/ 
Tow/Haul Mode 

   

Selector for 2-wheel drive, 4 high, 4 low and 
neutral. 

   

ENGINE: 5.7L, V-8, Gasoline 
   

AIR CONDITIONING: Factory Installed 
   

TOWING PACKAGE: Smart Trailer Tow 
Connector, 4 pin/7 pin wiring, Class IV 
Receiver, upgraded front stabilizer bar, aux 
transmission cooler.  Trailer brake controller. 

   

FLOORING: Vinyl Floor 
   

SEATS: Vinyl  
   

POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP: Including 
steering, windows, locks and power mirrors 
Right and Left 

   

GLASS:  Light Tinted 
   

SPARE:  Full Size Spare Tire and Wheel 
   



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

4x4  ¾ ton, 5.7L ENGINE OR ABOVE PICKUP 
TRUCK 
SPECIFICATIONS-MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

BUMPER: Rear Step Bumper 
   

RADIO: AM/FM, CD Player Factory Installed 
   

BED: 6 ½ Foot Short Bed 
   

KEYS: Dealer to supply five (5) keys 
   

COLOR: To be given at order 
   

XL Trim Package 
   

All Standard Equipment as listed by 
Manufacturer 

   

All items factory installed unless otherwise 
noted 

   

Include Manufacturer’s Warranty 
Information with bid. 

   

Dealers must include Manufacturer’s Spec 
Sheet with bid. 

   

 
 
Pricing: Configuration B - 4x4  ¾ ton Pickup Truck, Engine 5.7L or above 
 

1) Base Bid Price CREW CAB: (ea): _________________________________________________ 
 

Total Bid Price for two (2) CREW CAB: ________________________________________________ 
 

Make: _______________________________Model:____________________________________ 
 

2) Base Bid Price REGULAR CAB, with 8 ft. bed (ea): ______________________________________ 
 

Make: _______________________________Model:____________________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
DETAILED BID SPECIFICATIONS 
 
Configuration C - Two (2) 4x4  one (1) ton Crew Cab, Dual Rear Wheels 
 
Items found in this section set forth the County’s minimum expectations for new and unused, current 
year model (2017), 4x4  one (1) ton Crew Cab, Dual Rear Wheels Pickup Trucks sought through this bid 
document.  Each item in each of the following categories must be completed.  Please respond as 
instructed.  Please indicate to what extent your proposed vehicle meets each of the specifications listed 
below by placing an “X” in either the “MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If your 
equipment does not meet any specification, please explain using the comments column.  All bids are 
F.O.B. Chattanooga, Tennessee. 
 
Note:  If quoting more than one make/model of vehicle, a separate vendor/manufacturers’ specification 
sheet must be provided for each vehicle being quoted.  All quotes may be returned in one sealed bid 
envelope. 
 

Specifications for 4x4  One (1) ton Crew Cab, Dual Rear Wheels Pickup Truck 

4x4  one (1) ton CREW CAB, DUAL REAR 
WHEELS PICKUP TRUCK 
SPECIFICATIONS-MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

DOORS: 4-Full Size Doors  
   

TRANSMISSION: 6 Speed Automatic w/ 
Tow/Haul Mode 

   

Selector for 2-wheel drive, 4 high, 4 low and 
neutral. 

   

ENGINE: 5.7L, V-8, Gasoline 
   

AIR CONDITIONING: Factory Installed 
   

TOWING PACKAGE: Smart Trailer Tow 
Connector, 4 pin/7 pin wiring, Class IV 
Receiver, upgraded front stabilizer bar, aux 
transmission cooler.  Trailer brake controller. 

   

Dual Rear Wheels 
   

FLOORING: Vinyl Floor/rubber flooring 
   

SEATS: Vinyl  
   

POWER EQUIPMENT GROUP: Including 
steering, doors and power mirrors Right and 
Left 

   



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

4x4  one (1) ton CREW CAB, DUAL REAR 
WHEELS PICKUP TRUCK 
SPECIFICATIONS-MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

GLASS:  Light Tinted 
   

SPARE:  Full Size Spare Tire and Wheel 
   

BUMPER: Rear Step Bumper 
   

RADIO: AM/FM, CD Player Factory Installed 
   

BED: 6 ½ Foot Short Bed 
   

KEYS: Dealer to supply five (5) keys 
   

COLOR: To be given at order 
   

XL Trim Package 
   

All Standard Equipment as listed by 
Manufacturer 

   

All items factory installed unless otherwise 
noted 

   

Include Manufacturer’s Warranty 
Information with bid. 

   

Dealers must include Manufacturer’s Spec 
Sheet with bid. 

   

 

 
Pricing: Configuration C - Two (2) 4x4  one (1) ton Crew Cab, Dual Rear Wheels Pickup Trucks: 
 

1) Bid Price: (ea): ___________________   Total Bid Price for two (2): _________________ 
 

Make: _______________________________Model:_________________________________ 
 
 
BID SUBMITTED BY: 
 
Company Name: ________________________________________________________________ 
 
By: __________________________________ Email Address: ____________________________  



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 
true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 
certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 
County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 
these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 
documents, if selected.   
 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________   
Date 
 
 
 

 



Bid# 1116-053:  Pickup Trucks 
Hamilton County, TN 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 

By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification 
and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of 
this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of 
Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, 
agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with 
the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________ 

    Date:    _________________________________________ 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Pickup Trucks Purchasing

Friday November 11, 2016 10:30 AM

Configuration A: 4x4 1/2 ton Pickups

Vendor / Vehicle Info:
Golden Circle 

Ford

Prater Ford, 

Inc.

Mtn. View 

Chevrolet (HC)

Don Ledford 

Automotive 

Center, Inc.

Auto Nation 

Chevrolet 

Northpoint

Hudiburg 

Auto Group

Lee Smith 

Inc. (HC)

REGULAR CAB base bid price $22,612.00 $22,676.28 $23,547.40 $23,637.00 $23,768.00 $25,164.00 NB

Base bid price with towing option
$23,068.00 $22,676.28 $23,906.40 $24,012.00 $24,128.00 $25,466.00 NB

Make/ Model

Ford F150 XL Ford F150 XL
Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

1500 

Silverado

EXTENDED CAB base bid price $25,268.00 $25,332.28 $26,186.00 $26,175.00 $26,307.00 $27,698.00 NB

Base bid price with towing option
$25,724.00 $25,332.28 $26,545.00 $26,550.00 $26,667.00 $28,000.00 NB

Make/ Model

Ford F150 XL Ford F150 XL
Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

1500 

Silverado

CREW CAB base bid price $27,489.00 $29,107.28 $29,616.00 $29,687.00 $29,822.00 $31,214.00 NB

Base bid price with towing option
$27,945.00 $29,107.28 $29,975.00 $30,062.00 $30,182.00 $31,521.00 NB

Make/ Model

Ford F150 XL Ford F150 XL
Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 1500 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

1500 

Silverado

Cost of Emergency wig-wag strobe 

lights
$745.00 $240.00 $488.00 $498.65 $425.00 $550.00 NB

Delivery:

Allow 120 days 

ARO
10-12 weeks 9-11 weeks 8-12 weeks 10-16 weeks

90-110 Days 

ARO

12-18 weeks 

ARO

Terms: Net 30 Net COD NET COD Net 30 Net 30 Net 15 Net COD



Pickup Trucks Purchasing

Friday November 11, 2016 10:30 AM

Configuration B: 4x4 3/4 ton, 5.7L engine or above Pickup Truck

Vendor / Vehicle Info:
Golden Circle 

Ford

Prater Ford, 

Inc.

Mtn. View 

Chevrolet (HC)

Don Ledford 

Automotive 

Center, Inc.

Auto Nation 

Chevrolet 

Northpoint

Hudiburg 

Auto Group

Lee Smith 

Inc. (HC)

CREW CAB base bid price $29,249.00 $29,327.42 $30,544.00 $30,500.00 $30,731.00 $32,348.00 $29,880.00

Total Bid Price (2) Pickups $58,498.00 $58,654.84 $61,088.00 $61,000.00 $61,462.00 $64,696.00 $59,760.00

Make/ Model

Ford F250 XL Ford F250 XL 

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Ford F250 XL

REGULAR CAB base bid price w/8ft. 

Bed
$25,911.00 $25,989.42 $27,848.00 $27,875.00 $28,108.00 $29,725.00 $26,542.00

Make/ Model

Ford F250 XL Ford F250 XL 

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Chevrolet 

2500HD 

Silverado

Ford F250 XL

Delivery:

Allow 120 days 

ARO
12-14 weeks 9-11 weeks 8-12 weeks 10-16 weeks

90-110 Days 

ARO

12-18 weeks 

ARO

Terms: Net 30 Net 30 NET COD Net 30 Net 30 Net 15 Net COD



Pickup Trucks Purchasing

Friday November 11, 2016 10:30 AM

Configuration C: One (1) ton CREW CAB, Dual Rear Wheels Pick up

Vendor / Vehicle Info:
Golden Circle 

Ford

Prater Ford, 

Inc.

Mtn. View 

Chevrolet (HC)

Don Ledford 

Automotive 

Center, Inc.

Auto Nation 

Chevrolet 

Northpoint

Hudiburg 

Auto Group

Lee Smith 

Inc. (HC)

CREW CAB base bid price $32,132.00 $32,620.56 $32,325.00 $32,875.00 $32,838.00 $34,339.00 $32,763.00

Total Bid Price (2) Pickups $64,264.00 $65,241.12 $64,650.00 $65,750.00 $65,676.00 $68,678.00 $65,526.00

BED size 8ft 8ft 8ft 8ft 8ft 8ft 8ft

Make/ Model

Ford F350 XL F350 XL 
Chevrolet 3500 

HD Silverado

Chevrolet 3500 

HD Silverado

Chevrolet 3500 

HD Silverado

Chevrolet 

3500 HD 

Silverado

Ford F350 XL

Delivery:

Allow 120 days 

ARO
12-14 weeks 9-11 weeks 8-12 weeks 10-16 weeks

90-110 Days 

ARO

12-18 weeks 

ARO

Terms: Net 30 Net 30 NET COD Net 30 Net 30 Net 15 Net COD

Low bid - Meet Specs

Newspaper Ad: 10/31/2016 Did not meet specs-Bed length of 6.5ft required

Vendor Notification: 202

Vendor Response: 8 NOTE: CDJR of Columbia submitted bid that did not meet specs

Budgeted: Capital Outlay

Request For Bids































































































No. 1216-22 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF ROADS AND SPEED 
LIMITS” SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT ROADS AND TO 
ESTABLISH SPEED LIMITS THEREFORE: Sir Charles Court and Will Drive as 
extended. 
 
 
WHEREAS, The above listed roads are new subdivision roads in The View at White 

Oak Subdivision and have been inspected by the Hamilton County 
Division of Public Works and meet current County Subdivision 
Regulations; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the list of roads, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference thereto as though fully and completely copied 
verbatim herein, completely describes the amendments to be made to 
the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits”. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 1. That the above named roads be declared district roads, 2nd class. 
 
 2. That the attached amendments to the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” 

are hereby adopted and approved. 
 
 3. That the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” is hereby amended. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



ROAD NAME                                     DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Sir Charles Court Sir Charles Court  is in the 2nd Civil District, the 9th 

County Commission District, in The  View At 
White Oak Subdivision on State Tax Map Number 
86, leading from Will Drive north 0.26 miles to a 
turnaround, has a 50 foot right-of-way, a 8 inch 
stone base, a 2 inch plant mix pavement with 
concrete curbs, and was built by Swanson 
Construction and Lofty Grading & Paving Inc. for 
the developer Bill Fine. 

 
 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 20 M.P.H. and 

that violation of the same, when posted, shall be a 
misdemeanor and punishable as such as provided by 
the laws of the State. 

   
 
Will Drive Resolution No. 1015-24 dated October 6, 2015 

shows the mileage of Will Drive as being 0.36 
miles, described as leading from State Highway 58 
west to a temporary turnaround; whereas, a new 
extension of Will Drive was constructed leading 
from the existing Will Drive 0.12 miles to a 
turnaround, has a 50 foot  right-of-way, a 8 inch 
stone base, a 2 inch plant mix pavement with 
concrete curbs, and was built by Swanson 
Construction and Lofty Grading & Paving for the 
developer Bill Fine.; and, whereas, Will Drive is in 
the 2nd  Civil District, the 9th  County Commission 
District in The View at White Oak Subdivision on 
State Tax Map Number 86, leading from State 
Highway 58 west  0.48 miles  to a turnaround. 

 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 25 M.P.H. and 

that violation of the same, when posted, shall be a 
misdemeanor and punishable as such as provided by 
the laws of the State. 

 



No. 1216-23 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
December 7, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF ROADS AND SPEED 
LIMITS” SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT ROADS AND TO 
ESTABLISH SPEED LIMITS THEREFOR: Stone Valley Lane, Deer Valley Drive as 
extended, and Boulder Creek Trail as extended.  
 
WHEREAS, The above listed roads are new subdivision roads in the Boulder Pass at 

The  Canyons Subdivision and have been inspected by the Hamilton 
County Division of Public Works and meet current County Subdivision 
Regulations; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the list of roads, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference thereto as though fully and completely copied 
verbatim herein, completely describes the amendments to be made to 
the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits”. 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 1. That the above named roads be declared district roads, 2nd class. 
 
 2. That the attached amendments to the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” 

are hereby adopted and approved. 
 
 3. That the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” is hereby amended. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

December 7, 2016 

  
Date 

 



ROAD NAME                                                       DESCRIPTION 
 
   
Deer Valley Drive Resolution No. 307-25 dated March 21, 2007 shows 

the mileage of Deer Valley Drive as being 0.39 
miles, described as leading from Canyon Edge Lane 
north to a temporary turnaround; and, whereas, a 
new extension of Deer Valley Drive was 
constructed leading from the existing Deer Valley 
Drive North 0.13 miles to a temporary turnaround, 
has a 50 foot  right-of-way, a 8 inch stone base, a 2 
inch plant mix pavement with concrete curbs, and 
was built by Hedgecoth Construction and Card 
Paving for the developer James Pratt; and, whereas, 
Deer Valley Drive is in the 3rd   Civil District, the 
1st County Commission District in the Boulder Pass 
at The  Canyons Subdivision on State Tax Map 
Number 81, as being 0.52 miles  leading from 
Canyon Edge Lane north a temporary turnaround.  

 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 20 M.P.H. and 

that violation of the same, when posted, shall be a 
misdemeanor and punishable as such as provided by 
the laws of the State. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
ROAD NAME                                                       DESCRIPTION 
 
   



Boulder Creek Trail Resolution No. 1215-38 dated December 16, 2015 
shows the mileage of Boulder Creek Trail as being 
0.13 miles, described as leading from Clear Canyon 
Drive west to a temporary turnaround; and, 
whereas, a new extension of Boulder Creek Trail 
was constructed leading from the existing Boulder 
Creek Trail west 0.06 miles to Deer Valley Drive, 
has a 50 foot right-of-way, a 8 inch stone base, a 2 
inch plant mix pavement with concrete curbs, and 
was built by Hedgecoth Construction and Card 
Paving for the developer James Pratt; and, whereas, 
Boulder Creek Trail is in the 3rd   Civil District, the 
1st County Commission District in the Boulder Pass 
at The  Canyons Subdivision on State Tax Map 
Number 81, as being 0.19 miles  leading from Clear 
Canyon Drive west to Deer Valley Drive.  

 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 20 M.P.H. and 

that violation of the same, when posted, shall be a 
misdemeanor and punishable as such as provided by 
the laws of the State. 

 


	12-7-16 Public Agenda
	1216-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - November 9, 2016 _2690_11-09-16 Recessed
	1216-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - November 9, 2016 _2691_11-09-16 Agenda
	STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session

	1216-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - November 16, 2016 _2692_11-16-16 Regular
	1216-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report October 2016_2669_October 2016 Excess Fee
	1216-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report October 2016_2670_October 2016 Monthly
	1216-_S_Report_Juvenile Court Clerks Report September and October 2016_2689_Juvenile Court Clerks Report September and October 2016
	1216-_S_Report_Criminal Court Clerks Reports  June  July  August  September and October 2016_2693_Criminal Court Clerks Reports - June - July - August - September and October 2016
	1216-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2678_12-07-16
	1216-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2678_12-07-16A
	1216-2_R_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of Richard Brown and Teddy Rogers to the Emergency Communications District Board of Directors_2679_911
	1216-2_S_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of Richard Brown and Teddy Rogers to the Emergency Communications District Board of Directors_2679_Bio - Dr. Richard Lee Brown - 2016
	Dr. Richard Lee Brown

	1216-2_S_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of Richard Brown and Teddy Rogers to the Emergency Communications District Board of Directors_2679_RogersBio
	1216-3_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Highway 58 Volunteer Fire Department_2664_CommBankston Hwy 58 CERP
	1216-4_R_Justin Witt_School Furniture for Sale Creek Middle & High School_2667_Resolution Sale Creek Furniture
	1216-4_S_Justin Witt_School Furniture for Sale Creek Middle & High School_2667_Supp Docs Sale Creek Furniture
	1216-5_R_Justin Witt_Televisions wall mounts and mobile TV cart for Sale Creek Middle & High School_2668_Res TVs Wall Mounts - Sale Creek
	1216-5_S_Justin Witt_Televisions wall mounts and mobile TV cart for Sale Creek Middle & High School_2668_TVs, mounts supp docs
	1216-6_R_Justin Witt_Molded Case POE Analog Clocks Contract_2675_RES POE clocks 2016
	1216-6_S_Justin Witt_Molded Case POE Analog Clocks Contract_2675_Supp Docs Clocks
	1216-7_R_Alecia Poe_2016 Property & Equipment Insurance Renewal_2686_Res Property Renewal
	1216-7_S_Alecia Poe_2016 Property & Equipment Insurance Renewal_2686_Supp Docs Property renewal
	1216-8_R_Rheubin Taylor_River View Housing Associates LP Project_2697_JAYCEE TOWER PILOT RESOLUTION
	1216-8_S_Rheubin Taylor_River View Housing Associates LP Project_2697_RESOLUTION JACEE TOWER PILOT AGREEMENT
	1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Authority hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution ...
	2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Authority hereby designates the Trustee as its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments.  On or about October 1 of each year during the term of this agre...
	3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill, the Company shall pay to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill in accordance with the amount set forth below in Section 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in ...
	4. Amount of Payments by the Company.  For the eleven (11) year period covering and inclusive of years 2017 through 2027 (the "Tax Abatement Period"), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments with respect to the Property in an amount equal to $51,000 p...
	For any periods before or after the Tax Abatement Period (as it may be renewed in accordance with this Agreement) during which the Property is owned by the Authority, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor ...

	5. Covenants by the Company Regarding the Project.  The Company covenants as follows:
	(a) The Project will be completed within twenty-four (24) months following the date of this Agreement.  During the construction period, the Company will temporarily relocate all residents of the Jaycee Tower to other units within the Jaycee Tower at n...
	(b) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period (as it may be renewed from time to time in accordance with this Agreement),  100% of the dwelling units in the Project will be set aside for occupancy by individuals whose income ...
	(c) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period (as it may be renewed from time to time in accordance with this Agreement), 100% of the dwelling units in the Project shall be set for occupancy by individuals who are elderly or ...
	(d) After completion of the Project and during the Tax Abatement Period (as it may be renewed from time to time in accordance with this Agreement), the Project shall be maintained in good and habitable condition in compliance with all applicable City ...

	6. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments to the City and County shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as foll...
	(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, then a late charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Authority, the City or the County shall have the right bring suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to seek to recover the In Lieu Payments...
	(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default (as defined in Section 4 above), the City and the County shall adjust the terms and conditions of the tax abatement granted to the Company under this Agreement for the Tax Abate...

	7. Disbursements by the Treasurer and Trustee.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Section 4 for the benefit of the County school system shall be disbursed to the County and thereafter deposited into an account for the educational use and be...
	8. Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the appraisal or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or...
	9. Annual Report.  The Company will provide, on or before February 15 of each calendar year during this Agreement following the date the Project is placed in service, (i) a copy of the Owner's Annual Certification of Compliance that the Company has pr...
	10. Lien on Property.  Any amounts which remain payable under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that any payment owing hereunder is not timely made in accordance wi...
	11. Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Authority attains title to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Authority holds title to any of the Property or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, w...
	12. Leasehold Taxation.  If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due hereunder.  The Company agrees to cooperate fully...
	13. Stormwater Fees.  In addition to other requirements under this Agreement, the Company shall be responsible for all stormwater fees assessed by the City of Chattanooga against the Real Property.
	14. Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be written (including facsimile transmission and telex), and mailed or sent via facsimile transmission or delivered, if to the City, c/o Mr. Phillip A. Noblett, Suite...
	15. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any ...
	16. Assignment.  Except in the event of the conveyance of the Property as a result of a foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure or except as otherwise provided in this Section, the Company may only assign this Agreement, or any part hereof, with th...
	17. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	18. No Liability of Authority’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Authority, whether past, present...
	19. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	20. Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	21. Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder.

	1216-9_R_Albert Kiser_Procurement Rules Update_2671_RES REVISIONS TO PROCUREMENT RULES DECEMBER 2016 11-29-16 v2
	1216-10_R_Albert Kiser_Cooperative Purchasing Agreements_2672_RES COOPERATIVE PURCHASING MASTER LIST INITIAL ADOPTION DECEMBER 2016-v2
	1216-11A_R_Zoning_Zoning_2682_11-17- 151A
	1216-11A_S_Zoning_Zoning_2682_151
	1216-11B_R_Zoning_Zoning_2683_11-17-151B
	1216-11B_S_Zoning_Zoning_2683_151
	1216-12A_R_Zoning_Zoning_2684_11-17-152A
	1216-12A_S_Zoning_Zoning_2684_152
	1216-12B_R_Zoning_Zoning_2685_11-17-152B
	1216-12B_S_Zoning_Zoning_2685_152
	1216-13_R_Sheriff Hammond_Tasers and Equipment_2665_Resolution Tasers
	1216-13_S_Sheriff Hammond_Tasers and Equipment_2665_Taser Supp Docs
	1216-14_R_Sheriff Hammond_Secondary Vest Armor_2677_RES secondary Vest Armor
	1216-14_S_Sheriff Hammond_Secondary Vest Armor_2677_Supp Docs Secondary vest Armor
	1216-15_R_Sheriff Hammond_Series Ballistic Plates_2687_RES Series Ballistic Plates
	1216-15_S_Sheriff Hammond_Series Ballistic Plates_2687_Supp Docs Series Ballistic Plates
	1216-16_R_Sheriff Hammond_Donation to Reserve Program_2698_Donation to Reserve Deputy Program
	1216-17_R_Lee Norris_Bermuda and Fescue Sod Contract_2666_RES SOD 2016
	1216-17_S_Lee Norris_Bermuda and Fescue Sod Contract_2666_Sod Supp Docs
	1216-18_R_Lee Norris_Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles_2676_RES Logistic Vehicles EMS
	1216-18_S_Lee Norris_Emergency Medical Service Logistics Vehicles_2676_Supp Docs Logistic Vehicles
	1216-19_R_Judge Thomas_Contract unit pricing for Projectors_2631_RES Courtroom Projectors
	1216-19_S_Judge Thomas_Contract unit pricing for Projectors_2631_Supp Docs Projectors
	1216-20_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel October 2016_2673_Fuel Resolution October 2016
	1216-20_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel October 2016_2673_October 2016 docs
	1216-21_R_Albert Kiser_Pickup Trucks_2688_Res Pickup Trucks
	1216-21_S_Albert Kiser_Pickup Trucks_2688_Supp Docs Pickups
	1216-22_R_Todd Leamon_Amend the Master List of Roads and Speed Limits_2660_WhiteOakSubdivision
	1216-22_S_Todd Leamon_Amend the Master List of Roads and Speed Limits_2660_Whiteoaksupportdocument
	1216-23_R_Todd Leamon_Amend the Master List of Roads and Speed Limits_2661_boulderpass_resolution
	1216-23_S_Todd Leamon_Amend the Master List of Roads and Speed Limits_2661_boulderpass_supportingdocument

